# STATE OF NEVADA COMMISSION ON MINERAL RESOURCES

Tuesday, February 24, 2015 – 9:00 a.m. Clark County Government Center Commission Chambers 500 S. Grand Central Pkwy. Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

#### **COMMISSIONERS IN ATTENDANCE:**

Fred Gibson (Chairperson)
Dennis Bryan
Richard DeLong
Art Henderson
John Mudge
David Parker
John Snow

# **ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:**

Mike Visher (NDOM)
Rob Ghiglieri (NDOM)
Deborah Selig (NDOM)
Bill Durbin (NDOM-LV)
Rich Perry - Administrator (NDOM)
Valerie Kneefel (NDOM)

Jim Faulds (NBMG) Sasha Jhasser Bryan Stockton (Deputy Attorney General) Russ Fields (UNR/Mackay)

Alan Coyner (Ret.)

#### CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Chairperson Gibson called the meeting to order. Valerie Kneefel took roll call with a quorum of seven members present. The Pledge of Allegiance was conducted.

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC – Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive agenda and identified as an item for possible action. All public comments will be limited to 5 minutes for each person. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN

A. Chairperson Gibson asked for any public comments. No public comments were made.

#### I. MINUTES

A. Approval of the December 11, 2014 meeting minutes

ACTION TAKEN: Richard DeLong moved to approve the December 11, 2014 meeting minutes. David Parker seconded the Motion. Motion carried unanimously.

#### II. NEW BUSINESS

#### A. Election of Chairman –

Commissioner Bryan stated that because this is a legislative session he wondered if it would be appropriate to consider putting a vote off until the next meeting. He further stated that Chairman Gibson is the current Chairman of the Commission and if anything comes up at the legislature this following three or four months, Chairman Gibson has been the head of the Commission for so and Commissioner Bryan wondered if that would be a consideration to put the vote off for three or four months in case something comes up.

Chairman Gibson stated that his personal feeling is today is the day. He had a lot of discussion with Mr. Perry and a couple of others, and he thinks they're prepared to change.

Commissioner Bryan stated that was fair enough.

Chairman Gibson further stated that 33 years is a long time.

Commissioner Henderson commented that along the same lines as Commissioner Bryan, he'd like to see if the Commission might consider moving forward with the Vice Chairman until the next committee meeting or until Dennis is reappointed or not by the Governor and then they can make their decision. He stated he would hate today to have two or three people and then elect someone that may or may not be there after the next appointments. He asked if anyone there had any comment about that. He further stated that deep in his heart he would've liked for those people that are considering being the chairman today might have worked that out amongst themselves because as a Commissioner they all get along very well there and it's hard for him to make that decision to choose among one or two or three people. He stated he wanted to throw that out for discussion and asked if anyone had a comment about that.

Commissioner Mudge stated he was with Chairman Gibson and wanted to get it done today. He stated he knew unofficially who was interested but he'd like to hear officially who wants to raise their hand too, and he thinks they should get it out all on the table and talk it through and come to a decision.

Commissioner DeLong stated he wanted to say a few things and wanted to respond to Commissioner Henderson. Commissioner DeLong stated from his perspective, no matter who is chairman he doesn't see a problem working with any of them. He wasn't sure that issue was out there. He does hear what Commissioner Henderson is saying with regards to if John Snow becomes chairman or if Dennis becomes chairman and they happen to not be reappointed then they would have a very short tenure, but he stated that potential exists no matter when they reelect a chair. He stated it might be as short as two months or two years. He stated he thinks they have a good working group there and no matter who becomes chair they will all continue to work well together.

Commissioner Bryan stated that he would agree with Commissioner DeLong that whoever becomes chair would have the complete support of everybody else and everybody is qualified.

Chairman Gibson stated that they will move ahead and the Chair will entertain a nomination or nominations for the position of chairman.

Commissioner DeLong stated he will nominate himself and Dennis Bryan.

Commissioner Parker stated he will nominate Art Henderson just so there's more of a selection.

Chairman Gibson asked for any others with no response. He further stated nominations were closed.

Commissioner Mudge stated that he would like to hear a few words from each of the candidates.

Chairman Gibson asked for Commissioner Bryan to begin.

Commissioner Bryan stated that being Vice Chair of the Commission for the last two to three years has been very satisfying to him and has enjoyed the position, especially working under Chairman Gibson. He stated that he realized that after Chairman Gibson he's the longest sitting Commissioner and it seems like he just started this a few years ago but now he's got seniority. He stated he is very active up at Mackay. He's on the Executive Advising Board. He's active in the Nevada Mining Association. He's on the Board of Directors. He chairs the Exploration Committee. He's active in the Nevada Mineral Exploration Coalition. He testified at Exploration Day last month. He feels that he stays very active on the Commission and he enjoys that time and he would be very honored to be the chair of the Commission, but no matter who gets it he'll be fully supportive of that and stated that as Ronald Reagan said the youth and inexperience of some of the other candidates I'm not going to take that into account.

Commissioner Henderson stated he is very honored by Commissioner Parker to nominate him. However, at this time he believes that the new chairman should still be in the mining commissioner. He thinks hopefully one day the fluids commissions will have their industries grow up where they could be considered as the chairman of this

Committee. He won't remove his name because he's honored to have it there, but he thinks the other two Commissioners are better qualified to lead the Commission at this time with where they are with the industry in this 2015.

Commissioner DeLong stated that given his perspective in the industry serving in the last 10 years as a large-scale mining Commissioner along with the business side, which represents all aspects of the mining industry from exploration through development through closure gives him a very broad perspective on the issues that are of concern to the industry, particularly as it relates to Nevada. He further stated he has also been a past member of the Board of Directors of the Nevada Mining Association, past president of the American Exploration and Mining Association and still on their board so very involved in the trade associations which are working on trying to manage the issues that are in front of the industry. He stated for those reasons he thinks he brings a good breadth of experience that will help guide the Commission.

Chairman Gibson thanked the Commissioners and asked for any further comments with no response.

Mr. Stockton stated that the vote has to be public. They can't do a secret ballot.

Commissioner Mudge stated he felt the need that they're so blessed to have had Chairman Gibson be their leader for all of these years and the best of all worlds to have Chairman Gibson stick around on the Commission and pass the baton. He further stated he is fine with whatever the selection is knowing either Dennis or Rich will do a great job.

Commissioner Snow echoed what Commissioner Mudge said and asked if the Vice Chairman were to be elected as the Chairman what would be the succession process for the Vice Chairman.

Mr. Stockton stated the Vice Chairman serves at the pleasure of the Chairman. There's nothing in the statute that talks about that, so it's whoever the Chairman wants.

Mr. Perry stated in response to Commissioner's Snow question because at the beginning he actually thought that both should be on the agenda today but reading the statutes there's no definition of Vice Chairman. It's just Chairman who serves at the leisure of the Commission that they choose. Historically, the Chairman has asked for or has designated a Vice Chairman but it's his understanding it was never a vote; it was at the leisure of the Chairman. It was before his time but that's the history that he found on that one.

Chairman Gibson asked for a vote.

Commissioner Parker stated even though Commissioner Henderson is qualified and did a great job on the oil and gas regulations in a trial by fire, he realizes it would be awkward for him to step into this role right now, so his vote is for Rich DeLong.

Commissioner Mudge voted for Rich DeLong.

Commissioner DeLong abstained from the vote.

Commissioner Bryan voted for Rich DeLong

Chairman Gibson voted for Dennis Bryan.

Commissioner Henderson voted for Rich DeLong.

Commissioner Snow voted for Rich DeLong.

Chairman Gibson indicated Rich DeLong is the new Chairman of the Commission.

Commissioner DeLong thanks everyone for their support.

(ROUND OF APPLAUSE)

Mr. Stockton indicated that Rich DeLong is the Chairman effective as of now.

## **B.** Biennium Budget Presentation

With a PowerPoint® presentation, Administrator Rich Perry, Division of Minerals, presented the NDOM budget submitted to the Department of Administration in September 2014. Mr. Perry stated he had the presentation that was given to the Department of Administration as their annual budget presentation last September and much of it they discussed earlier this year when they went through the budget assumptions but he thought it was very timely if they went through what they did present because what they see is in the Governor's budget and now going through the legislative process. Then following this presentation, the next agenda item Deputy Administrator Visher is going to present their re-forecast, and Mr. Perry thought this would be a good way to look at the financials at least once a year. It is his intent to do this to be transparent and communicate what they have going on on the financial side. He presented the mission statement. As he mentioned last night, it's very close to actually what is in the statutes in Chapter 513 with the word responsible added to it. The activities of the Division of Minerals, and keep in mind this is kind of a template that the Department of Administration asks for when a state agency does their budget so other agencies do something similar to this, and these are our primary activities that are in our budget: The Abandoned Mine Land Program; General Administration, and you can see those things that are in there under that, the mine registry, the publication, minerals education, and the reclamation bond pool; and oil, gas, and geothermal. That is from an accounting standpoint how their budget is setup and looked at by the state. Every state agency has performance measures, and these are reported every two years to the Governor's Office and to the legislature. The legislature gets a written form of this and then when he presents to them like last week to Senate Natural Resources he actually puts this up so they can see where we are against our measures. So State agencies all have metrics, and we have three of them. We changed one this last year. General Administration is the minerals education presentations, and these performance measures were setup many years ago by the previous administrator, Administrator Coyner, and worked well.

Everyemployee in the Division of Minerals is required to do one presentation per month, and you can see last year we actually averaged more than that, 17.8 per person. Some people do more of them. Mr. Durbin does many more than that in Southern Nevada, but everybody does participate and do these in our shop. Abandoned Land Mines, Rob Ghiglieri keeps tracks of this and it's reported annually in the AML report, the secured hazards divided by the hazards that are inventoried so that we maintain a ratio above 70 percent so that we're doing closures and not just inventory work. The third is a new one this year, and this one really came from our legislative audit earlier this year when we were criticized for not doing well inspections. There is some story behind that between us and the BLM that he won't get into, but we last year inspected all of the geothermal and oil wells so that we had the data to go into a data file, and we're building that data file now. At the next meeting, we'll have Erik Langenfeld report on that. The fourth is the number of permits process in 10 working days and that was 100 percent and is fairly typically, depending on how it's measured, achieved. We have dropped that one because we generally do respond and issue permits rapidly but we can only do that on federal ground once the BLM has issued theirs. So there's some cloudiness on how that's calculated but to keep three metrics we dropped processing in 10 working days and went to inspecting all of the oil, gas, and geothermal wells, a third of them, each year so that we had a program that was transparent that we could show to the legislature and others. Budget assumptions for 2016/2017 biennium that we put into this where claim fees would remain flat and revenues at 2015 levels; \$0.15 per barrel on oil production, administrative fees. We didn't assume changes in geothermal fees. In a state budget, if you assume that you're going to be successful at legislation and rulemaking that might change fees, then you have to do parallel budgets and that becomes very complicated, so it's much easier just to go into this and say, okay, nothing is going to change, we're not going to assume that fees are going to go up in oil or geothermal and run through with the budget on that and then we can look at the re-forecasts to see where we're exactly at.

You can see the rest of the assumptions in there, the BLM assistance partnering at \$50,000 a year and \$75,000 to \$80,000 from the bond pool, which now rolls over since we changed the regulations on that last year and 100-percent fee funded in our budget. Eleven (11) FTE's. We did reduce our AML summer interns from 8 to 6 due to budgetary reasons, budgetary and how many we can actually handle to some extent, but mostly budget. \$50,000 in contracted AML closure work. We did have a placeholder here for curation at the Bureau of Mines and Geology, and he will show at the end where they might be on that one. Some of the other assumptions there, the IOGCC dues. We have IMCC in with annual dues as an associate member for the next two years and that's a decision that will have to be made in the future because at some point they are going to want us to become a full member, which is going to cost approximately \$50,000 a year, and I don't see that as being value.

The reason for our decline in reserves, because that was the question we were given to be prepared to answer when we did our budget presentation because they looked at our finances two years ago and now and saw

clearly that the reserve has been depleted. Mining claim fees are a big part of that. They are not down a full 10 percent this past year, but it's a significant reduction in what our revenues would've been. Our two-year support of the of the Sagebrush Ecosystem Committee was just shy of \$280,000. Development of the hydraulic fracturing regulations were about \$57,000 in unbudgeted costs.

Mr. Perry opened the discussion for questions.

Commissioner DeLong asked does the 11 FTE's in Carson City include George's position?

Mr. Perry answered that yes it does, so they are really sitting at 10 right now. In the state budget process to change or increase a headcount you have to go through a pretty significant process. How do we address the declining reserves? That again was one of the questions we knew they were going to ask because they wanted to make sure we were viable as a fee-funded agency and that we weren't going to show up at IFC with a request for general fund monies to keep operating. Some of these you're very familiar with that we're in the middle of, but again, this is what they presented in September. The first is higher fee revenues, and of course, oil and gas fee revenues is what they're pursuing right now through Senate Bill 44. They discussed at the last meeting the possibility of changing regulations for an increase in geothermal fees in the second half of this calendar year and he thought the Commission had agreed upon a couple of fees that could be done. They also discussed on the mining claim fee increases that they would defer that out of this year and go back and take a look at it in 2016 at the last meeting.

Commissioner Gibson stated he wanted to talk about the oil and gas fee. He asked what they had left on their authority.

Mr. Perry stated on the oil and gas fee they are at the maximum on the permit fee of \$200. They're administrative fee capped by statute is \$0.20 per barrel and they are at \$0.15.

Commissioner Gibson asked about the mining claim fee.

Mr. Perry stated the statutory cap on the combined mining claim fees is \$10 per claim and they are currently at \$8.50.

Commissioner Gibson asked Mr. Alan Coyner what they asked for to begin with when it was agreed to establish \$10 or \$15 and that saved the Commission the problem of going to the legislature every time they wanted to increase fees and they could do it when they wanted to do.

Mr. Coyner stated it was a two-step process as per his recollection. There was a step done immediately when he became administrator and then about a year or two later they took another step and he recalls that was to maximize the general use number at \$6 and \$4, and they maximized the \$6 that doesn't have any strings attached to it on how it's spent. The abandoned mine fee, which is a \$4 maximum, is sitting at \$2.50. That was the history behind that. He stated he would have to go into the records to find out exactly the year that that happened, but he imagined it was somewhere around 2000, 2001, 2002.

Commissioner Gibson stated he thought they were down to about \$2.

Mr. Perry stated they have \$1.50 left.

Commissioner Gibson asked if they considered asking for authority for another \$10 or \$15.

Mr. Perry stated they haven't in this session. Since they pushed out the mining claim fee potential increases to 2016, they could look at that for the 2017 session. Strategically when they discussed about what they wanted to do, they said they really wanted to focus on the oil and gas fee increase because that was a piece of legislation they needed to change.

Mr. Coyner stated that Carol Vilardo was the person that requested the cap of \$10, and the Division and the Commission has been able to stay under that \$10 to this point and time. So yes, they would legislatively have to go back and raise that number to essentially create a new cap.

Commissioner Gibson stated that was correct and asked if now is not the time.

Mr. Perry stated he thought it was too late in this session. He believed that fee increases in this legislature are not well received because it has taken them a lot of work to get a hearing on SB44 and as he'll talk to shortly an agreement in changing the language that there be a cap. Mr. Perry asked for any other questions and none were indicated.

Using the PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Perry stated they reported on how they might address declining reserves going into the biennium and one is with fee increase on the revenue side and the other is on the expenditure side, and they did work a lot of that into the budget. They have a fairly austere budget for this next biennium. The unknown is where claim fees are going to be since that makes up over 80 percent of their revenue. He thought this was a lot of what they actually talked about when the Commission approved going forward with their bill, but some of the direction they were given was to try to maintain a four-month balance forward going into each year and have the oil, gas, and geothermal programs fully fund their respective programs. The slide just shows the assumptions of what they assumed should go into the costs and overhead for the oil, gas, and geothermal programs.

Mr. Perry stated the next slide shows the declining revenues for 2014. He indicated the next slide the Commissioners had previously seen and they used it when they visited with legislators of revenues from oil and what they estimated what the cost of the program was. He stated the next slide was basically fundamentally what is in SB44 that they were reporting at the time to the Department of Administration.

Commissioner Henderson asked if Mr. Perry could go back one slide and stated that looking over this they had their budget planned based on a lot of activity coming up and asked what Mr. Perry saw now and if any of these budgets are possible to decrease with the decline in oil and gas exploration.

Mr. Perry stated he thought the travel and field expenses and field inspections are probably the one in there that could be most impacted this upcoming year if there's a hiatus in oil activity. The other part of the assumption is he basically built it on oil is half and geothermal is half with respect to the cost of the whole program because they run it together. It is the same resources. It's Mr. Price and half of Mr. Langenfeld's time. It's 25 percent to oil and 25 percent to geothermal so 50 together and he believes it's going to slow down, but that doesn't mean that the overhead goes away or that the people go away.

Commissioner Henderson stated the fees for IOGCC are there and the revenue decrease also because of declining oil and gas production and lower limited number of permits.

Commissioner Bryan asked if they were going to get hit again with the unbudgeted Sagebrush Ecosystem Committee funding.

Mr. Perry stated no they weren't and it's being budgeted for somewhere else out of the general fund. In this meeting in September when we presented this was one of the meetings to establish that, and that was the answer we were given by the Department of Administration was no, do not budget for that. He stated that in the end though it's the Governor's budget and ultimately it has to be approved by the legislature so until it's over it's not over.

Using the PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Perry stated with geothermal they discussed fee changes of increasing the fee for an industrial or commercial well and adding a new fee for a monitoring well, and if that moved forward that would be in the second half of this year and he would be looking for guidance in probably the May meeting for that at that point in time because he thinks they envision this as after the legislature meets if we're successful with our SB44 then we could potentially go into rule making on both oil and geothermal. As far as mining claims, this is what former Commissioner Coyner had mentioned there as far as the caps, the statutory cap and dangerous mine fees at \$2.50 and the Commission made the determination to defer this into 2016 at the last meeting. Additional risks to budget that mining claim fees come in below forecast and Mr. Visher will report on that. That is actually a bright spot. Geothermal, oil drilling, and production activity decline. On the expenditure side, we have not had any litigation associated with the development of the HF regulations and he hopes they don't, but if they do they can see a higher allocation going in the future. The AG allocations for this next biennium did go up significantly, but some of the other allocations did not. If unfamiliar with that, they're given allocations in the budget for IT, the AG's office, purchasing, and the shared services that the state provides for us.

Commissioner Henderson asked about salary increases for the staff. He's been there since August, a little over a year-and-a-half, and hasn't heard of any increases in staff salary. He asked how long has it been since the staff has had an increase and why have they not had an increase because he thinks they do a fantastic job and further asks if Mr. Perry can enlighten him on the procedure.

Mr. Perry stated he would be happy to because this is an issue. In the state system, they have two types of employees in the Division of Minerals. They have three classified employees and those employees are in a discreet scale with 10 steps in their classification and two of those three are at the top of their scale and one still has room and did receive a step increase this last year. They have 8 unclassified employees and they're rather unique in that because most unclassified employees are department heads of agencies in the state, but all 8 of theirs is unclassified, which basically means they're at-will employees in the state system and there is a table that is looked at at the end of the legislature with all of these and there's probably more than 100 of them in the state and they set the maximum salary in that by legislative action in a bill at the very end of the legislature. Going back in history in talking, there have not been any increases in that cap in the Division of Minerals for a long time. It takes legislative action. He did work into that this year a little bit of how that's done and learned a few things and did put forward using benchmarking a justification to increase several of those that I thought were low. He worked with the Governor's Office on that. That sits with the Department of Administration right now, but there are several of them he has proposed that he thought really should be higher. The field specialist is one of them. They should be at least equivalent to an Engineer I in conservation and natural resources. Some of their unclassified employees they hired in below that cap, which they do, and he believes two or three of them this year there was room and he initiated annual evaluations this year for all employees and two or three of them received an increase getting closer to that cap, but at least half if not more of the employees have not seen any increases in over five years.

Commissioner Henderson thanked Mr. Perry for his answer. He stated the reason he asked the question is because they are very generous with giving donations to many organizations and he thinks they should take a look at trying to take care of their own people first.

Mr. Perry thanked Commissioner Henderson for his comments.

Commissioner Henderson asked Mr. Perry if there is a material increase in overhead as a result of if the Governor does lift the furlough; does that actually increase the salary overhead?

Mr. Perry responded that it will, and Mr. Visher will show them that in the reforecast because they have the assumption that the furlough is going to be lifted, which he believes is a 2.5 percent wage reduction and has been. That's basically it. They're not going to pay you 2.5 percent. All the state employees have to take that. If they lift the furlough, then their costs for salaries is going to go up 2.5 percent.

Commissioner Parker asked if there's any way that the Commission itself can send a letter or go in and talk to people about raising those salaries.

Mr. Perry responded yes, he though there was. The person he was directed to is the Governor's Chief of Staff, Mike Willden, who appears to be the gatekeeper.

Commissioner Mudge asked if there's any reason to consider moving people from unclassified to classified and is that within Mr. Perry's power and if that would help resolve this.

Mr. Perry stated it was not within his power. It would take legislative action to do that, and he thought there would probably be some resistance to it at the Governor's Office, but he believes it would have to be a bill that was proposed to do that. Mr. Perry then asked for any further questions.

Commissioner Mudge stated he was intrigued to see the metrics at the start of the presentation and he would enjoy at a future meeting as you're setting metrics for the next biennium for us to have a discussion around those and are they the right ones and should there be a target and can they raise the bar.

Mr. Perry stated that he agreed and he will put that on the agenda for the next budget cycle when it starts which will be about a year away.

Commissioner Parker asked about the cuttings of \$33,000 and he thought that the industry paid for their own submittal of those cuttings.

Mr. Perry stated they don't. They require in the statutes that a geothermal or oil company operator submit two sets of cuttings and he believes also in the statutes or code of the Bureau of Mines and Geology that they're required to house those cuttings but nowhere is it addressed who is going to pay for the curation and for the last four or five

years since the Commission has provided funding to the Bureau of Mines and Geology it's been \$100,000 a year and it sort of specifically says a third of that is for curation of the cuttings but there's no mechanism anywhere to fund that.

Commissioner Henderson stated that in their workshop they looked at ways to increase fees and at that time they were interested in charging \$500 to the operator for submittal of cuttings and in Senate Bill 44 they had requested that they be allowed to set their own fees, and that was one of the fees that they would've voted on as a Commission if that SB44 was approved. He understands SB44 had to have been modified and they're not going to be allowed any longer to charge that \$500 fee, but he thinks they would have room in the cap of the drilling permit to include that as part of the drilling permit fee and asked if that was correct.

Mr. Perry answered that was correct and he'll talk about that because that's the way he sees it also.

Chairman DeLong asked for further question or comment with no response.

# **NO ACTION NEEDED**

#### C. Financial update

Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Mike Visher, Deputy Administrator, reported on the YTD revenues and expenditures, including claim fees and OGG fees. Mr. Visher handed out a packet that should go in new business C. the first page of which is a copy of what was presented to the Commission in August of last year, August 28th. It was the forecast at the time that was presented to the Commission. It is not the same budget that's presented to the Department of Administration. It's an internal and what they really think it's going to look like. He stated he has updated that. The second page they'll see a bunch of red text on it and everything in red has been revised. The reasons for the revisions are in the remarks, but what he stated he will do is go through the important categories for the budget, forecast what they expect FY '15 to end out as well as forecast for '16 and '17 so you can understand where we expect to exit each year and what happens to their reserves. Page 2 showed an updated cumulative mining claim revenue and goes back to 2010 and they can see where they sit right now. They're at 3.5 percent reduction from FY '14. Their mining claim revenue is their most important revenue category. It's two different fees, but 80 percent of their agency revenue is tied up in this so it's very important for them to keep track of it. There's a slight disconnect between the number of claims that are filed at the BLM and the amount of mining claim revenue they receive, so while their forecast or what they saw at the BLM was closer to 8 percent, actually what they're looking at for mining claim revenue is only down 3.5 percent. That is significantly less than the 10 percent that they were budgeted for FY '15. That's a good thing. He stated he'll come back to that slide later in the presentation.

The next page, oil, gas, and geothermal revenue, that goes back to Commissioner Henderson's comments with regards to decreased and expiration activities. It's significant. So things have changed a lot. The price of oil has dropped significantly from August of last year when they were forecasting things. One of the things that helped offset that decreased activity was the 50-percent increase in the administration fee for produced barrels and they saw that start to come in with the reports for November production. If they recall, their fee was made official October 24th. They sent out notice to everybody that when it came time to report their numbers they're going to have to increase it up to \$0.15 a barrel. So that helped to offset some of the decrease in activity. What that did was actually increase their revenue for FY '15 because of that \$0.15, but because of the decreased activity as well as expected decline in production they see a \$42,000 decrease for FY '16 and '17. So this goes to what happens to their revenue on the oil, gas, and geothermal side. They are seeing a slight uptick hopefully for geothermal activity and so they're forecasting a 2.5-percent increase and a 5-percent increase for FY '17. This is largely due to NV Energy and their RPS for two 100-megawatt and are looking for suppliers to provide that to them. That should be a boost for the industry and we're seeing significant increases for activity at Ormat projects. So that's a positive thing but not something they can count on to a huge degree.

Commissioner Henderson stated that last year they were reluctant to increase the administration fee on oil and gas to the \$0.20 cap because we were trying to protect the legacy producers and they thought by increasing drilling permit fees and other fees that they would actually place the burden of the oil and gas costs onto those that were fracking and doing things like that. Now that it appears due to this lower oil and gas prices, they're not going to have any fracking activities or very limited amount over some period of time until the oil and gas prices increase. Commissioner Henderson asked what would be the procedure to increase from \$0.15 to \$0.20; is that something they would do after the legislature once the SB44 is complete? He thinks in SB44 they've asked for additional increase in the cap, so if things stay the same he thinks they need to go ahead and increase that administration fee at

least a little bit to try to cover the costs of oil and gas and would that have any effect on the budget if they're able to do an increase in the cap.

Mr. Visher responded yes, it would have an increase. It would assist with revenue coming in to support the program. It would require rulemaking just like they've gone through in the past as well as the rulemaking that would be required to establish the fees.

Commissioner Henderson responded that he thought his question was if SB44 is approved and they increase the drilling permit fee from \$200 to some number below the cap at the same time we can increase the administrative fee because they'll have rulemaking in any case; is that correct?

#### Mr. Visher responded correct.

Using the PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Visher stated on the other revenue that they have coming into the agency, the surface disturbance fee is \$20 per acre. There's a cap at \$30 an acre. What is nice to see is that they're seeing a fairly consistent stream coming in for the next several years of roughly \$100,000 a year. As most know, the permits that go in are not necessarily tied to the commodity price. It takes a long time for those permits to reach fruition. So they've got a lot of modifications to existing mine sites that are finally getting to that point even though the price has dropped from when the permits were first started. So they're seeing an increase and that's a good thing that they can look to count on and what's in the pipeline looks to be fairly stable so they're counting on that. The ALM assistance, no real change there. They really don't receive much for the AML sign sales or the medallion royalty or copy fees, so those are relatively insignificant. They're expiration activity continues to decline. It may have stabilized a little bit, but they are still expecting that the transfer from the bond pool is going to diminish by about \$5,000 a year, and that's included in there as well.

For the expenditure side, category 01 is their personnel. They updated it to reflect the terminal payouts for George Bishop's retirement. They could not include those into the previous budgets because the paperwork had not been submitted. Since they've gone through that process, they understand better what those actual costs are and can kind of forecast what those are expected to be. They're also putting in some placeholders for two additional payouts over the next two fiscal years. The reason for this is it's a significant hit to the Agency, and they need to account for that. When an employee leaves, the payouts are anywhere from \$20,000 to \$30,000, and it's not something that they can necessarily see coming and they can't plan for it in a state budget sense unless they've submitted the paperwork. This is their informal in-house budget, so they want to take that into account.

The \$16,600 a year hit to the Agency is from the furlough, so if the furloughs go away their category 01 costs increase. Essentially before, that was a cost savings. That money came back to the Agency. So it came back into our reserve. Now it's going to go away. It's a nice thing to have that 2.5 percent come back to the employees, but we need to address that in the budget. In a lot of these categories for expenditures, they are trying to as Rich said put forth a relatively austere budget. So they have cost-cutting measures in a lot of these categories. In category 01, they've eliminated two intern positions. That's roughly \$37,000 a year savings, and they're forecasting that through FY '17. They have not backfilled George Bishop's field specialist position for the remainder of FY '15. That's a savings of about \$40,000. They do have one intern from last year, Alain Nowakowski, who is working a day-and-a-half a week for the remainder of the fiscal year to help out with some general administration in the office, but her cost is relatively small.

On the travel expenditures, he lumped categories 2, 3 and 8. Those are in state, out of state, and Commission travel. They're forecasting a 10 to 20-percent reduction in all of those, maybe not sending as many people to conferences, limiting some of the in-state travel for some of the meetings, and they've already seen some of that take place in FY '15. They are accounting for some inflationary costs, so FY '16 and '17 basically include a 3-percent increase for inflation. Category 09 is special projects. These can be largely viewed as discretionary at least to some degree because of the 3.5-percent decrease in mining claim revenue, not the 10-percent projected, that means their FY '16 payout on the \$2 per claim fee to Mackay goes up. So that's actually a hit to them. What they did is carry that 3.5\ percent going forward rather than stabilizing it. So don't really see any long-term increases and so they've got a savings or an increased cost \$48,000 through FY '17 when you actually look at the whole thing. Special projects to NBMG, seeing the placeholder in there for curation \$34,000 a year. They still carry forward the \$10,000 a year for donations, publications, other projects that the Commission might approve in those fiscal years. In categories 18 and 39, AML's support includes the per diem to the interns and so with two fewer interns they've eliminated some of those costs. And then the other part is the truck, so they're not adding another truck in FY '16. Historically, they've replaced a vehicle every year so now it's going to be every other year. So the next vehicle replacement will be in FY '17.

Category 39, the AML enhancements and the contracts, historically this had been a pretty big category and they've gotten a lot accomplished through their contractors even peaking out at one year at almost \$300,000. This is significantly less. They're looking at \$60,000 a year, \$50,000 for contracts and \$10,000 for materials. The materials is high because it includes the cost of the foam when we're looking at hard closures, so that's a significant hit to that category. Cost allocations are lumped altogether. These are things that they don't have any input on. The State Budget Office puts that together, and they try to smooth things out as best they can for the agencies so that any one hit in any one fiscal year is smoothed out but what they did see is they finally got tagged with the AG cost allocation and it went up 400 percent. So that's something that they don't see until the budget actually hits the press. The good thing is that some of the allocations for the other categories went down and so compared to the August forecast it's a relatively minor increase total there.

The next is the agency reserves going back a few years to FY '13 showing the steady decline in revenue. The decline is tapering off a little bit. That 3.5 is continuing. Their expenditures have come down significantly, a lot of those in discretionary, AML funds have leveled off. As a result of the declining revenue, their reserve continues to decline and we're just under \$500,000 at the end of FY '17. So the outlook as they enter FY '18 is that they have about 4.3 months of capital. The bar on the chart shows as the money comes in that's where they would be. As the money comes in, that's where they would be. They receive the bulk of their money in the first two quarters of each fiscal year. So the goal of having four months reserve as a minimum is probably okay. On the non-discretionary annual expenses, those categories are summed up that are keeping the doors open. It doesn't count AML enhancements, doesn't count the interns, so it's just staff keeping the doors open. Because the Mackay payment occurs in the third quarter of the fiscal year, that's not part of that 1.4 because that payment usually comes much later in the year and at that point their revenue has come up to about 90 to 95 percent of the total for the fiscal year.

Those are the special projects and the discretionary expenses that you see. The NBMG payments, \$100,000 through FY '15 which the Commission approved and then the placeholders for \$34,000 for FY '16 and '17. The Mining Association Education Committee, \$15,000. Special reports and projects, any special requests that come up before the Commission, that's also very austere, only \$10,000 a year. The enhancements at \$60,000 and the summer interns to get a flavor of what costs in fuel, materials, per diem, salary is about \$37,000 a year for two interns. They generally work in twos because they have two interns per truck, so it's easier to look at it that way. So they save \$37,000 each year by just having six interns over eight but if they need to reduce that further that's the equivalent savings that they'd be looking at.

The next page is actually not part of the PowerPoint© and was in the book already, and that's again just the cumulative mining claim revenue which was on the previous chart and then they are used to seeing this one, which is their work program and where they stand to date. It's a bit misleading because what they see is where they are versus what their work program says, which is really just what they are authorized to either receive or spend. That's what they have to do when they deal with the State Budget Office, but since all the money is theirs it doesn't mean as much as those forecasts that they look at just making sure they had those in front of them. The listing, the last three pages in Tab C are the listings of special projects approved, what is outstanding and what still needs to be paid, so they can see where they are at on those. This is meant to bring them up to date on where they see the budget to date and put things in perspective as they move forward with any additional spending decisions they make today. Mr. Visher ended his PowerPoint© presentation and then asked for any questions.

Chairman DeLong stated that he thought Mr. Visher stated he was going to change the cycle on replacing vehicles from one new one every year to one new one every other year. Chairman DeLong asked if he had accounted for the likely increase in maintenance since the vehicles are going to have to last 25 percent longer.

Mr. Visher stated the maintenance costs will be offset by the fact they have fewer users as well.

Commissioner Henderson stated that in the past they've talked about the reserve. Commissioner Henderson then asked what is the appropriate amount of money to have in the reserve, because he couldn't remember exactly if they said \$750,000 or \$500,000 in the last meeting.

Mr. Visher stated he thought it was closer to the \$750,000.

Commissioner Henderson stated that's what he was thinking, so they're getting below that point now. He doesn't think they have any mandate by the Commission to require that \$750,000 but he personally thinks they should, as a Commission, set a limit on the reserve and that way when they think about the other programs they have to cut the expenditures to keep that reserve because once again going back to the salaries they have to take care of themselves before they try to take care of everyone else.

Mr. Visher stated he thought the number of \$750,000 came from their total expenditure cost and what he tried to do was just show the keeping the doors open number and just the non-discretionary cost to the Agency and then pushed off the Mackay payment just because of the timing when that occurs. He feels the 1.4 is a little more realistic. The timing of that and what the Commission feels is an appropriate amount of time to have money to carry them through, that's a decision for the Commission to make. He thinks to decide on what the amount is or the timeframe would be helpful so that they understand where they stand next to that benchmark moving forward and knowing do they need to raise fees, do they need to cut costs because they can't dip below that level. That would be helpful for them to manage the programs, but the actual determination of either that level or that number is up to the Commission.

Mr. Perry said that indeed Mr. Visher was correct the \$750,000 included, they just averaged out their total costs including their donations for the year. The keep the doors open costs doing what they do on average is about \$125,000 a month for the Division of Minerals, so he thinks what Mr. Visher and he discussed is trying to have somewhere in the four to five-month range of reserves there especially since they're getting most of their revenue, like two weeks ago they hit their peak revenue for the year and now it will decline steadily because they've collected all the claim fees, all the geothermal fees, and all they have trickling in is monthly oil fees, which aren't a lot, and permit fees. That will decline through August when they hit their lowest point. So they've got to have a reserve to just have their own internal working capital if that's a good word to operate, and he thinks that number is in the \$500,000 to \$600,000 range, somewhere around four to five months at \$125,000 a month.

Commissioner Henderson stated he agreed with what they were saying but if they go back to the fundamental of economics everybody recommends six months cash for unforeseen causes, so personally he'd like to see it closer to that \$750,000 number just to allow their job to be easier in the future.

Mr. Visher thanked Commissioner Henderson and said he would sleep better. He was certainly not against that.

Commissioner Snow stated he wanted to address the intern situation. He found it ironic and sad that they have to reduce the internship program, which has been hugely successful for AML, at a time when he thinks without taking away from Director Fields' thunder a little later today when Mackay School has got record enrollment and graduation rates and we're having to eliminate two interns when we're at a very positive situation on creating a pipeline of future employees. The Division itself has been the beneficiary of two employees from that program and to him it would be given AML's mission critical that they find a way to restore those two positions when the budget cycle can afford it.

Mr. Visher stated it was a measure of the times, a reflection on the industry itself. The industry is cutting back on their internship opportunities as well, so they're seeing the same thing. One of the facets that was in the PowerPoint® that he didn't speak to was the opportunities for additional monies coming from the BLM and Mr. Ghiglieri is going to discuss that, and they look at those as things that they can't count on but if they represent themselves in advance enough it would allow them the opportunity to hire more interns or direct more contract work. It's a matter of they can't really count on that until it actually comes in, and there's always strings attached and it can be additional bookkeeping, additional tracking of the dollars. Any money that comes from the federal government is not just a gift, but there are opportunities and Mr. Ghiglieri will speak to that a little bit later. They're not part of the budget because they didn't want to go there. They want to be as conservative as they needed to be, but those are opportunities that may come through and John Callan with the BLM has been fighting very hard to secure more monies. He recognizes that they can put more work on the ground and affect more work more quickly than the BLM themselves can, and so that's a good thing. It's a win/win, but it's a lot of paperwork, a lot of bureaucracy to keep track and push forward, but they have the track record to demonstrate that they can do that. And certainly with a contract in place, which they're looking to renew and have a new one in place for AML effective July 15th it will give them the capacity to spend that money quickly.

Chairman DeLong asked for any further questions.

Commissioner Mudge stated he agreed with Commissioner Henderson. He doesn't know if they can mandate \$750,000 but they should target something like that and it would be good to come to that agreement. Further to that point, what he thinks would be helpful would be a graph as to what is predicted the amount of money in the bank in essence. So starting in fiscal year '18 with \$500,000 in the bank and after one month you've brought that down, after a second month you've brought that down, and then revenues start to come in and so that starts to increase and just

to make sure that they stay above that liquidity line to give them a better visual of that. The other thing is just building off the BLM and he's mentioned it before but hasn't followed his comments up with any kind of real action but it drives him crazy the fees that go to the federal government on the claims and how none of that comes back into AML. It seems to him there's got to be a political way to work the system to get money back into not only Nevada but all the states from the claim fees that go into the federal government. He would urge all of them to think about if there are any ways politically, act of Congress, or whatever to get some of that money back in their state.

Chairman DeLong stated he concurred with Commissioner Henderson and Commissioner Mudge with regard to the reserve. Half a million he understands the logic, but it seems to be cutting it very close.

Commissioner Parker asked when they say they've got this minimum budget and they're just barely keeping the doors open are they actually meeting the criteria that they're required to meet or are they just keeping the doors open.

Mr. Visher stated he thought they were meeting the criteria for sure. They're still doing AML field work. They're still doing inventory work. It would shift to more staff in the field but he doesn't see that they'll be missing any of the benchmarks required statutorily.

## D. Update on Donation Requests and Approvals

Using handouts in consideration of annual education support to UNR/Mackay, Mackay Director Russ Fields presented an accounting of where NDOM support was used in the past year and proposed for next year. Mr. Fields introduced himself as the Director of the Mackay School of Earth Sciences and Engineering which is a very gracious recipient of much support from this Commission over a number of years. Mr. Fields stated unfortunately he did not have the opportunity to put his presentation today in the form of a PowerPoint© presentation. He handed out a letter on College of Mackay School letterhead and another handout called Mackay at a Glance, which is a series of tables that he'll be referring to in his remarks. He asked Bill Durbin to make sure that the members of the audience had a copy of that as well. He stated he was asked today by Administrator Perry to report on the funds that have gone to the Mackay School for education. He stated he'll talk about the funds that have been used to support academic and support positions in the school. Later on in the agenda, they'll hear from Jim Faulds about the funding that has gone to the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology.

So with regard to the \$2 per mining claim fee that's collected by the Division of Minerals since 2008 and provided to the Mackay School pursuant to the 2008 inter-local agreement between the Commission and the University. Fiscal year '15, the year they're currently in at the University, \$435,819 has been and is being used this fiscal year to support a portion of payroll expenses for six faculty members in the Department of Mining and Metallurgical Engineering and a geological information specialist at the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology. This funding has supported mining and metallurgical faculty who are engaged in mine design, mine ventilation, rock mechanics, mineral processing, and extractive metallurgy. A portion of the funds are also used to support the Chairman of the Mining Engineering Department. The geological information specialist at the Bureau provides information and assistance to the public and to faculty with regard to mines and geology as well as supporting activities at the Bureau. So that's their current fiscal year.

In the next fiscal year, FY '16 that will begin next July 1st, the amount of money that they will receive they are told that it's \$390,064. He saw in the budget he thinks they have \$390,068. He wasn't sure what happened to the \$4. Looking forward into that FY '16, it's much the same as he just described except they'll be supporting five faculty members from the Department of Mining and Metallurgical Engineering recognizing the decline in funds from FY '15 to FY '16. The one academic area that won't be included in their plans for FY '16 is rock mechanics. They're, of course, piecing and parting numbers of sources of funds together to support faculty. This \$2 fee is a very critical part but it's not the whole thing. They're going to continue in FY '16 to support the geological information specialist at the Bureau. Of course, this has made such a huge difference. The agreement that was cast in 2008 basically was made to replace a loss of budget of about \$400,000 a year, and it has been quite close to that. The current fiscal year was higher. That reflects the lag in how the money is sent to the University. It was actually collected in FY '14. He can't tell them how grateful. They basically saved the core part of mining education at Mackay, and so he can't tell them how grateful they are. He can though tell them what the results have been, and that's what the table Mackay at a Glance is all about.

The mining industry asked them about the time period that this was beginning to get the numbers up in mining and at the time they didn't even have metallurgical engineering in Mackay, but they said they want more mining engineers. They've got a growing industry. They've got a lot of senior people beginning to move out of the industry, mining engineers in particular with retirements. They need more kids in the pipeline, so they've focused a

large amount of effort on creating more mining engineers. They do that through efforts of our recruiting, efforts at the Mackay School, and they've been able to add new and younger faculty in a couple of their course areas which has helped. But looking at the spreadsheet, it shows the disciplines at the Mackay School: geography, geological sciences and engineering, mining and metallurgical engineering. The undergraduate enrollment they measure that in the fall of every year. In 2009, basically when the funding began, they had 53 students in the mining and metallurgical engineering department. At that time, it was just a mining engineering department. They've added metallurgical engineering. The past year they had 129 undergraduates in mining engineering. That's a major increase. The school overall has grown from 240 in 2009 to 345 in 2014. Graduate enrollment, that's a different function. They don't really recruit for graduate students working on master's degrees and PhD's. That is more a function of faculty. The next page is the one that they really care a lot about and that's students that get through the process and do earn a degree and are ready to go to work in the industry. Again, scanning down to mining engineering, they had 24 in the 2013014 academic year.

Commissioner Henderson stated they had a \$400,000 shortfall in 2008 and that's when the Commission agreed to fund this and now they have it looks like 125 more enrollment. Commissioner Henderson then asked at what point do you not need this money that the Commission provides?

Mr. Fields stated they need that at the point where the state will help us.

Commissioner Henderson asked how many students is that; how many students would that be? Back in 2009, for example, if they had 345 students you obviously wouldn't have needed all the \$400,000. Today they have 345 and they still need the \$400,000. Commissioner Henderson asked where is the point where you don't need the funding here any longer?

Mr. Fields stated the costs are related to faculty that's required to teach specific courses that are required for the degrees. Where they would cease to need the \$400,000 is at the point that they can replace the \$400,000 in another way.

Commissioner Henderson stated that was his point. They have 125 additional tuition and fees from the students. Commissioner Henderson asked doesn't that count in some manner toward this deficit?

Mr. Fields stated it helps those specific kids with certainly their education at the university but some of that certainly does go into the operations of the school and the university but they've also seen the growth in demands on faculty continuing to need the \$400,000 even with the growth in students.

Chairman DeLong stated that in-state students, their tuition goes essentially to the general fund and is reallocated by the legislature while out-of-state students those funds remain in the university and can be allocated by the university.

Mr. Fields stated he believes that has changed. He stated that he believes the university does have those funds in its general fund.

Commissioner Bryan asked if he could address Commissioner Henderson's concern. Some of the background here was the Commission back in 2008 did go to the mining industry in the state and that's where that \$2 claim fee increase came from and specifically earmarked to support Mackay because at that time Mackay was in dire need and the college, it quite being a college, went to the college of science as just a school. The whole program was in jeopardy and they had workshops and the mining industry in the State of Nevada agreed to up their fees for \$2, so that's where that \$400,000 a year came from and there's an agreement with the university still in place and it's been extended. Who knows how long that will keep going and it's tied in with Marigold royalties, et cetera, so the industry itself wanted to help Mackay out and he doesn't know if that has changed at anytime.

Commissioner Henderson asked to Commissioner Bryan that isn't the landscape different now; isn't the school more healthy than it was at that time or is it still in this desperate situation in needing funds.

Commissioner Bryan stated it's more healthy but if you take away those funds he doesn't know what would happen.

Mr. Fields stated that what would happen is they would lose at least three positions, maybe more, of faculty. He thinks if they go back a few Commission meetings ago there was a decision to extend the agreement that I think now extends to 2018. That would be through June 30th of '18. That coincides with the Marigold Mine situation, which

was addressed a little bit in previous talks with the Commission, where the University had agreed to put roughly half of its royalties into the Mackay School. There's a formula there that helps fund an endowment. So those funds are going to an endowment, the endowment as mentioned last time in talking about the Marigold Mine, now it's a little over \$2 million. An endowment is a lockbox that is just able to earn at the foundation's determined rate of 4.5 percent, so \$1 million is \$45,000; \$2 million is \$90,000 a year. So that's growing and he stated to Commissioner Henderson that that is going to help. They are going to start fairly soon directing some of those dollars towards faculty in mining engineering, those endowment dollars, but as they've seen from the budget the mining claims are down and so to are the \$2 per mining claim fee that's attached to those mining claims. So where we really need to go and it's looking forward down the road at 2018 is not that far away, he needs to implore upon the administration of the University that this is a problem that must be addressed legislatively or at least administratively through the University that there's a decision they are going to reinstate mining and metallurgical engineering to the point that it was in 2008. This is also a conversation they need to have about the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology. There was no entity on the University campus that took a larger percentage hit than the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology. Their contributions over the years to those functions have really kept the Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology able to move forward and Mr. Faulds will be talking about that later in the agenda.

At the same time, there's a development process that goes on, development in the sense that myself, our dean, our director for development are constantly working on talking with corporations about assistance with our programs. The mining industry has stepped forward and in addition to this \$2 fee, Newmont has been extraordinarily helpful supporting chairs and activities in the school; Gold Corp, Barrick, Kinross, all of these have come forward to support things like term professorships. This is to the tune of several hundred thousand dollars per year. This is some of the other part of funding the faculty, but these are one-shot deals. They don't go on forever. So fundraising is a constant effort.

Commissioner Bryan stated if the \$400,000, the \$2 per mining claim fee at some point in time were to not be required by Mackay he thinks that the Commission would be obligated to go back to the industry because that's what that \$2 was for and talk to the industry, give them a \$2 break on the claim fees, or have some kind of rationale for them to keep it and do something else with it, so he thinks that's an obligation for the Commission.

Mr. Fields stated they don't need to worry about that right now. They don't need to go back to the industry with the \$2 because it's very much being used for this work.

Commissioner Parker asked Mr. Fields about Mackay's graduation rate. In 2009/2010 they had 240 to 255 students involved and their graduation rate in 2013 was about 56. He asked if that's standard for most universities.

Mr. Fields stated there's a lot of variables that go into graduation rate calculations. It's not really doable from the numbers that they've got in front of them, but the College of Science routinely goes through all of its academic departments and looks at graduation rates. Right now, the graduation rate is quite a bit higher than that. It's probably in the 56 to 65-percent range.

Commissioner Parker then stated that at the last meeting Mr. Fields talked about this fund going to help education almost exclusively but that included the people at the Bureau of Mines of Geology, which included everyone from Director Jim Faulds at a 25 percent of their time was being spent and paid for through this. He asked that it seems to have changed to where they're just supporting one field person, field information specialist.

Mr. Fields stated he was not sure what they were looking at, the 25 percent.

Commissioner Parker stated it was in response to a question from Commissioner Bryan that said each of the faculty members from the Bureau of Mines and Geology and that includes everyone from the Director, Jim Faulds, on down to the most recent research factory in the Bureau has a .25 FTE. That's 25 percent of their time to be picked up by the Department of Geologic Science and Engineering.

Mr. Fields stated that what that is is the University administration made the decision that it wanted members of the faculty to teach and the place these faculty members, geologists primarily, teach is in the Department of Geological Sciences and Engineering. .25 of their salary is picked up at the administrative level by the University. That's different than the \$2 mining claim fee, which is focused primarily on mining engineering.

Commissioner Parker thanked Mr. Fields for the clarification.

Commissioner Bryan stated one other thing is that Mr. Fields was at SME last month and SME is the largest professional organization in the world that covers the mining industry and the mining industry through SME has stepped to the plate with what they call the SME PhD fellowship and grant program, and they have committed \$9.5 million over the next seven years to fund one of the biggest impacts to mining and metallurgy the lack of future professors. They're going to lose 50 percent of their professors in the next four to five years. So he hopes that Mackay can take advantage of that program because it's going above and beyond just scholarship tuition. It's much more than that, living expenses and getting people into the professors that teach our future students.

Mr. Fields stated it's a tremendous decision on the part of the SME to recognize that they have failed to adequately backfill PhD's who are going to be retiring and through the help of SME he thinks they've applied for some of that for a couple of students that they have at Mackay right now. They know they're going to have to go out into the world and replace PhD faculty members in all of their programs and academia has not produced the number of PhD's that it needs for its future operations. It's a great move and they appreciate all of Commissioner Bryan's efforts on that. It's a critical thing to do.

Commissioner Mudge stated in thinking about the longer term and the whole fiscal and budget and Commissioner Henderson's question and just a little bit more on the history, the mining engineering degree used to be the most expensive in the entire college for the university and President Milt Glick assigned Mr. Fields and himself and Greg Lang and possibly others to go out and find money because President Glick said he's got to cut the whole university and he's going to cut funding in half because that degree is more than double every other degree in the university. So they did that at that time and his understanding is year on year the revenues come in and they allocate whatever they allocate to the College of Science and then somehow some monies get allocated down to Mackay, and it's not like the Mackay tuition dollars come in and then they go out for that program. So that is a little bit of history. It strikes him as they talk about this claim fee and Mackay talks about where it's being used, they have a view into their budget that's only looking at part of it as opposed to the whole thing and he's thinking about that the Commission's commitment runs out in 2018. He thinks the claim monies from Marigold go through 2020 but he thinks it might be helpful if they're willing sat down and looked at their entire budget and forecasting for future years and where it's all going, what's coming in, what's going out, kind of the trends they've seen in the past couple years to help from a planning standpoint. He asked if that made sense.

Commissioner Henderson thanked Commissioner Mudge for the clarification. He then stated that his only point was that they need to be good stewards of the mining companies' money and at some time if they're always receiving this allocation people don't look for that money to be replaced by legislation or other ways and that was his question. He supports 100 percent what they do. The graduation rates are great. At some point though, there needs to be self-sufficiency in his opinion that they can go back and give the money back or use it somewhere else or other things. In 2008 they said they were desperate. It now looks like things have improved a lot, so that was his question.

Mr. Perry stated he wanted to explain the nuts and bolts of where he sees as the administrator is, if he can, because part of the agenda item is to vote to approve the donation, the \$390,000 donation today. Referring to Mike's analysis, the second page which has the red numbers in it there, this is the way they were looking at this and go down to the bottom and on the bottom there is reserve, balance forward to next year, which is that magic number that Commissioner Henderson said he thinks they should have it around \$750,000 or six months. So if they look at where they forecast at fiscal year '15, the third column over, or going back to '14, the end of '14 last June they finished the year with that \$889,000 number they are forecasting for fiscal year '15 to finish right at \$700,000. The difference there between the two is they paid the Sagebrush Ecosystem Council this last year, which goes away. Going into the future there, they can see the reserve forecasts under their current assumptions declines. He thinks they're pretty close to the \$700,000 now so he thinks that his recommendation if they asked him would be to approve the Mackay donation. All along here one of the assumptions they don't have in this reforecast is are they going to be successful at increasing fees in oil, gas, or geothermal, which even at a modest increase without a lot of activity probably would increase revenue somewhere in the road of around \$100,000 particularly if it went from the \$0.15 to the \$0.20. In one sentence, he thinks they are safe this year with this donation. If fees don't change next year and they're not successful in oil and gas and geothermal fees, they're going to have a hard decision to make.

Commissioner Bryan stated he was confused in why they have to approve this \$400,000 to the school. He thought they had an agreement with the school through 2018.

Mr. Perry stated they do. He was just told that the Commission wanted to approve things. That was one of the previous meetings where one of the Commissioners said since they're tight they'd like every donation to be approved.

Commissioner Parker stated a point of clarification that the inter-local agreement made the commitment for just five years of payments and then I think the royalty went out to 2020. The Commission made a unilateral decision to commit for another five years but that's not written in any agreement, but he would agree with Commissioner Bryan that he thinks they've pretty much made that decision when they made that commitment to extend it five years. He thinks it's probably wise that it comes up to a vote every year, but he thinks what overhangs that vote is the previous internal commitment.

Chairman DeLong stated he would agree with that and part of that yearly review and vote was to get information from Mr. Fields and to the school as to what those monies were going to be used for so they at least had some input on that. Doing an annual vote on the amount is still appropriate. Chairman DeLong asked for further questions with no response. Chairman DeLong asked for a motion to either approve or disapprove the payment of the \$2 per claim.

Commissioner Bryan moved to approve the \$2 per claim fee to go to Mackay for this coming year.

Commissioner Henderson seconded the motion.

Chairman DeLong asked for further discussion with no response. Motion was voted on and approved unanimously.

ACTION TAKEN: Commissioner Bryan moved to approve THE \$2 per claim fee to go to Mackay for the coming year. Commissioner Henderson seconded the Motion. Motion carried unanimously.

(BREAK TAKEN)

# E. Discussion of the need for a scoping level study for a concentrate smelter in Nevada

Using handouts, Mr. Perry conducted a strategic discussion on the idea of a "business study with technical input" to evaluate if there is a need for a base metals concentrate smelter in Nevada. Mr. Perry stated he put the item in the agenda and wanted to provide some history to it and then ask for some consensus on a plan of how to move forward. The one-and-a-half page document that you see here was sort of hastily put together by himself with input from Mr. Fields and Mr. Hendricks at the request of one of the assemblymen who when he was visiting them talking about SB44 asked what would economic development in mining be defined as. Mr. Perry said since they had the AMEA meeting in Reno last December that he had met with several people and they looked at base metal deposits in Nevada and all the activity that's happening around copper. Copper production had not seen a lot of growth in recent years but knowing that all of those copper concentrates that are being produced by the two producers now are going out of the country because of the lack of smelting capacity, this could be an opportunity to conduct a business study that could be used as a marketing study to attract a base metal smelter to Nevada. Furthermore, this could bring forward some of these base metal deposits that are struggling right now in economics because of their thirdparty downstream processing risk. A lot of this is verbiage that Mr. Fields wrote that was included in here, and he needed to provide this to the legislator very quickly so he did and the number that's shown on the second page that they came up with is a business study with technical input of around \$100,000. Also backing up, he talked with Dan Kappes and Gene McClelland a little bit about the concept too, and that's how they hastily put this together. Mr. Perry envisioned this as a strategic effort by the Commission with help from the University. Basically what that legislator was asking for was to try and get it into an economic development bill to come up with \$100,000 to do this through the state legislative process. Further since then he's come to the conclusion that what they really should do as a next step even waiting while the legislature goes is put together a small committee of people to do a better scoping study on this if it does become something that gets funded, and he would see State Geologist Faulds being a part of that because we looked at the state in the report as being a feeder of helping in that and some of the metallurgical staff at the University. Mr. Perry asked for direction to put together that team and do a round table meeting sometime in the next months to six weeks and see if they can put more flesh to this and see if there's any fatal flaws in it.

Chairman DeLong asked if he was thinking of having any Commissioners on that fact finding or taskforce?

Mr. Perry stated absolutely.

Chairman DeLong stated he was thinking Commissioner Bryan would be a good fit on that.

Mr. Perry stated they'd have Commissioner Bryan and Director Fields and Jim Hendricks and Jim Faulds and himself and maybe one of the two metallurgical consultants, Gene McClelland or Dan Kappes if they're interested on being on it and asked if that made sense.

Chairman DeLong stated that would work and does make sense.

Commissioner Mudge stated recognizing that one small issue would be getting an air permit if they get to that point and it might be good to visit at least with NDEP about and get some input or even have one of those folks on this little review group might be good.

Mr. Perry stated he thought that was a great idea also. He stated he has talked with Dave Gaskin about it a bit and actually one of the items that maybe makes it more realistic in Nevada is overprinting where base metals are produced, where there are railroad tracks, where there is water, and where there is an air basin that is unfilled is sort of a step down the road but he thinks Nevada is one of the few states where that actually probably could be done because they've permitted coal-fired power plants and things like that here, but he will enlist Dave Gaskin's advice.

Chairman DeLong stated they might want to look at the administrator level because there's also waste management is a critical aspect in operating a smelter as well as an air permit.

Mr. Perry stated then Greg Lovato might be the right person.

Commissioner Bryan stated they went to see Assemblyman Edwards from Las Vegas, they went to see him on another topic, and the first thing he did was hand them that memo that was given to him. He is very supportive of it, and he is very supportive of going to the Governor's economic development and asking for that if this proves feasible and gets some legs under it.

Commissioner Parker asking who is coming up with the \$100,000.

Mr. Perry stated that the request is for economic development money through the budget process. The comment that he heard from this particular legislator was they spend a lot of money doing studies in the state for a lot of different things, but they've not done anything in mining and natural resources and yet that's one of their biggest industries. He asked what would constitute a study that would be classified as economic development that could create or analyze whether there's a business model that could work for the mining and minerals industry, which he thinks was an excellent question that hasn't been answered. He doesn't think mining and natural resources has ever really gotten much discussion versus some of the other industries that they do spend money trying to attract to the state. It's already here.

Chairman DeLong asked if he'll move forward with that.

Mr. Perry stated yes, that's really all he needed was direction.

Commissioner Bryan stated he had one last comment. The Mining Association funds 50 percent of Todd and he's gone so what's going to happen to that money and asked if Mr. Perry has approached the Mining Association.

Mr. Perry stated he did talk to President Dana Bennett and she did discuss it with some of her major precious metal producers and informed him that there wasn't a lot of interest but that didn't surprise him. A base metal smelter does nothing for them. She is supportive because she sees this as being one that hits her mid-tier people would support, but he did not try to solicit money from them on this and Mr. Valine is gone and doesn't know what their plan for replacing him is.

# NO ACTION NEEDED

## II. OLD BUSINESS

# A. SB44 Update

Mr. Perry reported on the status of SB44, a bill that seeks to change the way permit fees are charged for oil and gas drilling. The Bill has been directed to the Senate Natural Resources Committee. He stated they got some good news on Monday. SB44 is their bill draft to change the way fees are collected in the oil and gas industry and as everyone is aware as they went through last year their permit fees are capped at \$200 for an oil and gas well and they are pretty under water on that with the amount of time that they spent on those. So SB44 was the designation of the pre-filed bill that went to Senate Natural Resources first and they weren't getting much activity until last week when a meeting occurred between Chairman Gustavson of Senate Natural Resources and the two representatives of the oil and gas industry in the state, and they sat down in his office and they basically said, yes, they are in favor of this Bill. Fee bills are not view very positively in this session right now from what he gathers. They have a hearing on Thursday and that was confirmed yesterday from that committee. However, the results of that meeting last week were concerns from interested parties about the open-endedness if they just eliminated the \$200 fee and did not cap it. So on Friday afternoon knowing that they had to react quickly to that, he and Bryan Stockton sat down with the bill and added some language to it in Section 1, Number 3. It was added, "the fee for a conventional well that is not intended to be hydraulically fractured shall not exceed \$2,000, and the fee for an unconventional well intended to be hydraulically fractures shall not exceed \$5,000. The fee for applications to make changes to a permit shall not exceed \$400." Those are sundries. And then in Section 2, Number 3, they reduced the \$0.50 to \$0.30. And then the direction he got was when they bring this bill forward, at the end of that he will propose this as a friendly amendment to their existing bill. That's the first step hopefully in a five-step process to get a bill through. Senate Natural Resources is first. Then if they approve it, it has to be a two-thirds vote, then it would go to the Senate floor and then it would refer to Assembly Natural Resources and then to the Assembly floor. So the next couple months if they're successful, he's going to be busy in Carson City. The fee caps that he put in are the highest fee from the matrix that the Commission approved earlier this year, so the bill would still give the Commission the ability to set that matrix of fees, just not to exceed these caps.. So it's still consistent with what the Commission said they wanted to do but with a cap.

Chairman DeLong asked for any questions with no response and stated that at least it's moving forward.

#### NO ACTION NEEDED

## B. AML Database Update/AML 2015 Plan

Mr. Ghiglieri presented an update on the AML database project. Mr. Ghiglieri discussed the budget of the AML program because they've been in discussion of that for a little bit. So since 2012, the budget for the AML program was basically \$400,000. Currently with these cuts for FY '15, they are down to \$232,118, so that's a 42-percent cut in the AML program between the interns, contracts, internal work being done. They've worked through a few different ways to try to come up with some money to replace that. One thing is their agreements with the BLM and the Forest Service. The Forest Service is a little unique. For one thing, it's a reimbursement program. They have to do the physical work to get any of the money back. Until they have the money in place to pay for someone to go out there, they can't do that work. They can't earn money back. Another issue with that is the Forest Service, as the Commission knows, doesn't have much land in Nevada compared to the BLM. They are getting into further and further locations and with their trucks and their capabilities of getting in the field it's getting harder and harder for them to get to these locations, especially on Forest Service land. When there are abandoned mines that are in the Toiyabe Range and can't get a truck within five miles, it's hard for them to get to these locations, but they can drive an ATV straight to these so there's some concerns with that. The BLM, there's a few hurdles to jump. Currently, they have an assistance agreement with the BLM. This agreement goes through FY '16. It caps out at \$250,000. Currently, he's asked for \$110,000 for this FY year. That would pay for \$50,000 which the BLM earmarked for a closure project in Tonopah and then \$60,000, so the annual is \$50,000 to \$60,000. The BLM is willing to give them extra money but as soon as they reach that cap of \$250,000, their agreement is over. They can't ask for any further money. So for them to continue to get money they're looking to create a new agreement. They've discussed this with John Callan with BLM where everybody is willing to work on it and get it done but it's just getting the time for him to set aside and sit down with possibly Bryan Stockton and their contractors to get the agreement signed, hopefully in the future, but it's something they can't guarantee to hold onto. So the \$50,000 per year in the next year is a good assumption. One good thing with the BLM is in the State of Nevada they just did an inventory assessment that was released last November or December. They did inventory over three states; the State of Nevada, the State of Arizona, and the State of California. They estimated that Nevada had 300,000 to 400,000 abandoned mine features. They did not break those out by hazards versus non-hazards, but that's what they estimated so that's actually a little bit on the upper end of what they've estimated. That's strictly on BLM land. That's not counting the

rest of the state. So they actually think that there's more out there. That is one good thing for the BLM because now John Callan will actually be able to say, look, we have the most in the United States, he's going to be pushing to get more funding. He understands that he doesn't want to create an inventory program at the moment so he's thinking that may be able to push money towards them, but for that to happen they have to have these new agreements in place. There's a lot of steps before they can assume or even count on any of this money or the possibility of the money.

Another program that they've gone into is the Army Corps of Engineers, their restoration of abandoned mine sites program, which is currently helping fund the database. They receive a \$2 million budget this year, so \$1 million more than last year and that's \$2 million more than two years ago. One concern with that is Mike Feese who was running the program also just took a new job so this is his side program that he's trying to run on top of his civil defense program he's trying to run too. He and Rich Perry put together a few letters and sent them off to Senator Reid, Senator Heller, and Congressman Amodei last year to help support the Army Corps program and those letters did help. One thing he's trying to do minus the database program is he submitted a scope of work to the Army Corps for a 50/50 cost share for inventory work in the State of Nevada for \$100,000. So that means they would match the \$100,000. The Commission's \$100,000 will be completely covered in kind in the design of this. The only issue is no contract has been written with the state for this type of work so their legal is looking into how this can be written. It's a good possibility but it's not a guarantee they will get this. That may help make up \$166,000 deficit from two years ago in the AML program. All these fixes are temporary and they all have a lot of ifs, ands, or buts and can't rely on these fixes. So they still have to look internally to figure out where they can get the AML program to get it back to what it once was or what they're going to pursue in the future. Mr. Ghiglieri asked for any questions with no response.

Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Ghiglieri discussed the AML notification process. He doesn't think it's ever been presented of what the AML notification process is. There are a few flowchart diagrams to look over. When he was doing the database project, he realized he needed to get a flowchart diagram for everything they do in the Division so when they give it to the contractor to build the database they know how the flow is and understand the process. They do three notifications. The first notification is every abandoned mine feature that they find to be unsecured to a new claimant, so this claimant does not know about this or they have not notified them. This notification is done twice a year. This one has been going on since 2011 twice a year. It had decent return. They will be working on the next one this March or April. This one is continuing. The second notification is once they catch up with the process, so they're behind in the second notification. So since 2011 they've only done one reminder notification. This reminder notification also cc's the county and gives the county the ability to contact the county sheriff and have the sheriff actually legally pursue the companies that they send that were non-compliant. So these are the people that have had six months, the maximum amount of time to secure an abandoned mine and they have not received contact from them or not received documentation from them actually trying to do work in that area. Last week he received a letter from the Eureka County Sheriff who was pursuing some people, so the sheriff is getting involved. Since that time though, both of those companies had re-contacted them and said they will take care of them, so the sheriff stopped the pursuit but these are being passed now to them. The one issue he's having with the second notifications is with this new database project they're going through the database and cleaning data. They're redoing research. They're redoing a lot of information, quality control. For him to send out a notification to a county sheriff saying these people are not replying he wants to be 100-percent sure that he knows it's on their claim and that they have notified them. So with this new database, Debbie has been amazing help with cleaning out and working on it. Eventually, they'll get to this process and hopefully it will be a monthly mail out and hopefully in the new database it will be automatically populated. The last notification is the process of securing. This is when they secure stuff, the Division of Minerals, the interns, contractors, when they secure stuff on other people's claims or private land, patented land, they do a notification every December or January to let them know that year they secured it and it's on their land but is their responsibility from this point forward to maintain securing status. This is a general flowchart of the entire AML program, extremely general. Every time a step is seen in there there's another whole flowchart associated with it. They can be provided. Basically, they determine the field area to go. That's how the AML program starts. Inventory, revisit, securings. Did they secure them? Are they unsecured? Do they need to perform land research to send notification for them to be secured or need to perform the land research for them to get a proactive securing? It's a flowchart that goes around over and over again.

The first notification has its own flowchart. Have they done the research? Has it been done? Is it up to date? Did they do the research four years ago on BLM land? Should redo again because claims change almost every year in some areas. So it's a constant update. They're always having to re-research these things over and over again. The second notification process is very similar. The difference is is it still the previous owner that they did notify at one time before. There's a couple ways to get out of it on both of these. If the ownership changed, then it falls back to the first notification. So the next time they do the first notification they should be capturing that one. Sometimes they'll be in the process of doing wildlife closures and sometimes those may take a year or two to be

done, so they want to make sure they're not notifying the county that these people haven't responded in six months but they are talking with wildlife for the BLM. Then the process of securing is just once a year. They notify everybody that they secured on their claims for securing work. After every time they mail out it's a huge process to capture all of this information. It's got to be captured in the database when we notify them. It's captured when any claimant responds, what information is provided to them, was it a phone call or email. They will save it into some different folders. They save hard copies whenever they get a chance. They're always updating the databases, a constant update, especially when it's secured. Every time then response letters are sent out. So it's a long process. When something is started in March, sometimes you will continue to hear stuff six, eight months later. Mr. Ghiglieri then asked for any questions on the notification process with no response.

Using a PowerPoint<sup>®</sup> presentation, Mr. Ghiglieri talked about the interim planning. He and Lucia Patterson put it together. It was similar to what they've done in previous years when Commissioner Mudge talked to Mike about creating a ranking system why we're going where we're going. So they took that and they elaborated on it pretty significantly. Just a couple photos of last year's interns. This looks really bad because they were supposed to go one-by-one but apparently they're not. So paying attention just to the top, TopoQuads of Interest Topo Rank. So that Topo Rank was the initial program what they did, 1 through 7, how high does this rank by the stuff they used before to quantify these numbers. Then Lucia Patterson came in and this was done previously with Rachel and Mike and himself, but it was done a lot in their heads and it wasn't put down into paper. Lucia has been able to come up with this resource and she puts up the Topo Rank Town Buffer, is it close to a town or is it out in the middle of nowhere. Accessibility, so known accessibility by us being there before by looking at maps, looking at roads, near roads or trails so is it by the Vegas Arena off-road race or is it by one of the other races, is it near hiking trails. Average Hazard Rank of Orphans, Loggings needed, the amount of non-secured orphans. So that increases it significantly. If we know there's 10 non-secured orphans, that's an area that's going to be priority for us to get to. Percentage of Importance, so I believe she had that one being up to a total of 32 different points for a percentage of points combining what was already there, adding up the rest of them. Known issues, there's a lot of quads we'll go out to. There's one quad that has 2,400 points to investigate, but they know out of those 2,400 probably 2,300 of them are dozer cuts because there's a prospecting area in the flats outside of Tonopah. They have ideas of how to take care of those with remote sensing which will be discussed shortly. And then known issues, notes, what have we been in there before, access, anything they can add. Lucia has this down for every quad she created she did this for. She started creating work areas, so on the left is work areas and she just started out with area one which was near Tonopah and she started counting up and continued going and this created an area for us. These are combined by accessibility and what can be done hopefully within a week with interns. Ranking each quad, she created these and from that we were able to create the summer intern plan which is the map on the right. It includes everything but the one week we're going to do in Southern Nevada with Bill. They haven't determined that area yet. What this ability has is eventually this is all captured in one sheet and they can update it easily every year so when there's more unsecured orphans, if go out and didn't realize there were orphans, they can add it to the sheet and it will continuously update. It's never going to have to restart from the beginning again. Hopefully, in one day, they can incorporate this into the database. This is a possibility for us to get incorporated so it's automatically ranking Topo Quads by an amount of hazards, proximity to population, proximity to roads. It's a quantitative way for us to say this is where we want to go. Before she did this, he gave her a couple ideas of areas they felt they needed to go to just by experience of being in the field. Every one of those areas was captured in this, so it does work. The ideas of what we have is shown on paper. Mr. Ghiglieri then asked for questions with no response.

Using a video presentation, Mr. Ghiglieri showed a video of the new database. He stated he got this yesterday when he met with TerraSpectra Geomatics. They are the contracting agency for the Army Corps. They dealt with us in 2008. This is what's going to be the web app. This is version 0.1. This is the very beginning. This is the idea. This is an ESRI product. This is going to be what they call the web app. If the BLM was to log online and they wanted to look at an area in BLM, they log on and this is what they see. This is a seven-minute video. They can speed it up as needed, but this will go over just some basic information of what can be done. You're going to have to sign in. You're not going to be able to just log in. Each agency will have their own sign in. They'll have their own information. You'll be able to zoom in, locate any area. Currently right now with this, the photos are not associated to it. They're doing the geo-processing and geo-tagging process to them, so they will be incorporated in this so eventually when you click on a hazard you'll get the attributes and the photos of it. What's shown here is base maps, changing between any of the base maps that are provided by ESRI and can switch between them pretty quickly. Zoom into areas, locate attributes, do queries on it, shape files. Add any shape file. Getting to the point which is the layers on the top right, add shape files, non-hazards, everything is included in this. They're able to modify it. It is an out-of-the-box product that will require little coding. Eventually what's being designed is an input form. They'll be able to input information directly into this and then be transferred to the database. This is only for people to logon and work online. They're not going to be working from this on the division 100 percent. They're still going to be using their desktop license. This does not have all the features, but this gives the ability for anybody

that is allowed to have access to the database to log online at any point, view information, download information, print information. Here's the query opportunity here. It can be queried by AML sites, sites not visited. There's only four in there. By the end of it, they'll probably about 15 different types of queries that will be involved in this and be able to see everything in the state. You can zoom into the exact feature and zoom into 1 to 1,000 scale, 1 to 100 scale. There's attributes for WA29. This was logged back in 1989. It's been filled since. That's why there hasn't been much information captured since then. Queries can be done by the hazard rank, so showing anything that's a nine or ten in there. Use the filter, add result. There's only nine or ten in that location, WA21. So this is the ability of what they'll have to eventually query by give me everything on BLM, give me everything on Forest Service, everything on state lands, private land. What's shown here, the key thing for him in what they're doing is this will be what the interns eventually get on their handheld device. When they're in the field, this will be the program that is running, not through the web. It will be cached on the device. So when they walk up to it, they're going to have this availability of different maps, all the information associated with the photo, so when they walk up to the feature and they want to know is this the right one they can look at the photos. They'll have the ability to press a button say log new feature, revisit feature, log non-hazard. This will be in their hand in the field. This is a basic introduction of it and it's version 0.1, the very beginning of it. And printing from this will also be available.

Commissioner Parker stated he saw where they have the claim name and asked if they have the claim ownership on it.

Mr. Ghiglieri answered yes.

Commissioner Parker asked who will have access to this, if the general public will.

Mr. Ghiglieri answered no, it will be a logon secured site. The access will be the Division of Minerals and that will have different layers with two administrators, people who can go in and modify it, they users, and then they'll have data entry people, so interns. They can't modify anything. All they can do is strictly data entry. They'll have access points for any state contractor to have their own availability. They'll be able to set it and make a map so the Forest Service only sees Forest Service and maybe a buffer 50 meters around it. Shape files are not 100-percent accurate, so sometimes you want to know what's right over the other side of the line just for reference. They can set it for BLM or set it for state lands. It's going to be strictly you have to have a login ID to get into this database. The last thing when you're zoomed in on 1 to 5,000 scale but you need to move five miles away, you can do that easily there without dragging and pulling everything over. It's just showing the different features, measurement tools, calculate area, distance, any of that stuff. This is just strictly out of the box. They have the ability to have TerraSpectra modify this. What the Army Corps proposed to them last month was the ability of possibly creating a five-year contract. This contract would be funded 100 percent by the Army Corps of Engineers and would give the ability of year one you have options for bug fixes so \$25,000. Find a bug in the database, TerraSpectra fixes it. They bill the Army Corps. This has to be approved. This is an idea, but they're trying to move for this. There's options to incorporate mail outs in this. They exercise a \$50,000 option, TerraSpectra writes a code to incorporate mail outs into the database and it's incorporated into the database. This all depends on if the contract is approved and if the Army Corps has funding, so the continuation of funding for the RAMS program is pretty significant but they will be trained in SOL. So before this initial contract is done, they will be trained with basic SOL training and they should be able to modify anything in the database that they need. The availability of that contract will give them an opportunity to have an outside contractor who does this for a living to modify it whenever they need him to.

Commissioner Parker asked how many people are anticipated being educated in SQL.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated it will be Lucia, Debbie, Erik, and himself.

Commissioner Mudge stated he was hung up on the 42-percent reduction mentioned at the start and harkening back to John Snow's comment that he's going to lose sleep tonight over are they really doing everything they should in this state from an AML standpoint. He asked what the BLM spends annually on AML in Nevada besides the \$50,000.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated he did not know. They do spend significantly more because they go through the hard closure process. They close a couple hundred every year. Those average from \$2,000 to \$10,000 per feature, probably an average of \$3,000 to \$4,000 per feature. They spend a lot but John Callan at the BLM currently is fighting to get more money. Some states are actually finishing up the AML programs on BLM, smaller states back east and the Midwest have very little BLM. They're done. They've done all of the reclamation. They're monitoring. They are

slowly moving funds to different areas. John has his hand up high. They know about us. They know about the State of Nevada. They know about the issue in Nevada. It's good news for the BLM and it's also very good news for the Commission.

Commissioner Mudge suggested they meet with John Callan and turn their sights up to \$500,000 a year as opposed to \$50,000.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated he did invite Mr. Callan to the meeting but he couldn't make it. Mr. Callan will try to make the May meeting so once they figure out the date he will invite Mr. Callan to the meeting and hopefully try to get him on the agenda to discuss and meet. The Commission met Chris Ross multiple times and Mr. Callan is his replacement so Mr. Callan would like to meet the Commission and talk about the AML program in the State of Nevada.

Mr. Perry stated he wanted to commend Mr. Ghiglieri and his team on all the work they've done. Mr. Ghiglieri has managed to leverage the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for an all new software system that takes this off their access database where they're backing it up manually in their office and eventually link it to photos and the net result of this is efficiency because if they can have people go into the field and have access to this, they're not spending near as much time figuring out, A, where they're at, B, what they're supposed to be doing, and especially with their summer hires that their effectiveness of doing physical closures is going to increase with time.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated this ability for the interns will be huge to give them this format since kids today like digital. For them to find themselves on a paper USGS map and say, I'm right here, and look at them and you're over there. It's a difference of 100 yards, maybe 200 yards on a map, but it makes a difference where they think they went and then they come back to the office and they says they got everything and looking at you realize they didn't. This will give them the ability to see exactly where they are on that map and where the rest of the features are. It will eliminate a lot of duplication of work and eliminate a lot of time wasted in the field of trying to figure out where you are. Also when they're flipping through 30 pieces of paper, the ID sheets and the photo stapled to them, trying to figure out which one they're at because there's a cluster of six of them in a row, they'll know where they are. They'll be able to take the photos. They'll know where the photos are. They'll be able to update the UTMs. These photos initially with these devices will be geo-tagged photos so they'll have the location of the photo. Once they're processed, they're going to erase that location. Mr. Ghiglieri stated they will keep the original files but to get every file in the database they have to be compressed and geo-tagged and they will geo-tag those photos on top of the site, not where the photo is taken so it will help increase the locations and the accuracy of these sites.

Mr. Perry stated if Mr. Ghiglieri wanted to speak to the safety statistics.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated he believed they actually increased from 79 percent securing rate. It is now at 80 percent now so went up slightly. They did inventory less hazards. They had the contractor in the field less amount of time. He doesn't know off the top of his head and is waiting for the BLM to give him the final numbers from Elko. They are the most in-depth program for the BLM AML program. He believes they're close to 1,100 were secured this year and around 800 were logged. It's a little below last year, but they did have less time in the field, less contractor in the field, and this directly related to that. The mail outs do help. They are a lot of work. They may only get response from 20 percent if less than that but at least they're getting response and they are getting hazards secured by these mail out procedures.

Mr. Perry stated for Mr. Ghiglieri to comment on accidents/incidents.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated there were zero accidents/incidents reported in 2014. That has happened only a few times in the program. A lot of one offs every other year, but last year was zero accidents or incidents reported in the AML program for 2014. A lot of that is what they discuss when they go out and do minerals education, they always throw five minutes in on the AML. The amount of work Bill does in promoting the AML Stay Out Stay Alive is unbelievable. He sees more kids every year than most people can imagine. The active outreach program is effective in his opinion and that's one of the many reasons that the incidents actually look to be decreasing in a trend over the last 15 years.

Commissioner Mudge stated he would like to acknowledge Mr. Ghiglieri and the team for great innovation and suggest that if they hadn't considered it to make the access available to the State Mine Inspector and first responders.

Mr. Ghiglieri stated yes, they've actually developed a good relationship with the Washoe County Hasty Team. He and Mike were invited to their annual dinner this last month but were unable to make it because they invited them the night before, but they do have a good relationship building with them. Upstairs they continue to build the relationship. They actually came down last year and gave a first aid and off road training to interns. That is the first time they've come down and done that. They're trying to build the relationship and he 100-percent agrees that first responders should be able to have access to the database but asked which first responders. He doesn't want to give it to every single county and people get into the sheriff's office, find this database, and then go out exploring that next weekend. There's that double-edged sword of giving it to the right people and not letting it get to the hands of the wrong people. Washoe County Hasty is definitely the people they want to keep in contact with 24/7 for these things. They know Mike and himself. They have their cards. They have their numbers. They've gone to trainings with them this last year. They went to the possibility of investigating other incidents as well this last summer.

Chairman DeLong asked for other comments with no response. He thanked Mr. Ghiglieri for his presentation.

## **NO ACTION NEEDED**

## C. Mining Claim Form Taskforce Update

Commissioner Bryan reported on the progress of the taskforce to review certain language on the mining claim forms which are available on the Division website as directed at the December 2014 CMR meeting. Commissioner Bryan spoke to the background. A few months ago he brought this to the attention of the Commission and because the Commission has suggested mining claim forms on the website they would like to put them out there and have them be adequate. They're finding through Western Lithium, they have over 2,500 mining claims active and they had some issues and their attorney brought it to his attention that there's some questions on some of these forms. The verbiage is sometimes unnecessary and there's ambiguities that really create some confusion. Rich and Mike Visher and himself got together and they met with Richard Harris and Tom Erwin, renowned mining attorneys in the State of Nevada and they agreed to review the forms and come back with some recommendations, and they have done that. Commissioner Bryan stated he hasn't had time to absorb it yet, but everybody has copies of this now. He would suggest that they meet again and review these things and come up with their own forms with this language and run it by legal counsel, et cetera.

Commissioner Parker stated he wasn't able to attend the meeting, but he did submit comments. The problem's he sees is in the law itself. It intermixes the terms claimant, owner, agent as one in the same. That seems to be carried forward in what's proposed here. It says locator on the certificate but owner on the affidavit. Without changing the law, they could make this a little simpler and try to lump them all under locator, owner, agent.

Commissioner Bryan stated they brought that up at the time and he sees that here too. He's also confused. He stated they needed to clean that language up.

Chairman DeLong asked if the group that's been working on this think they can come back to the Commission by the next meeting with a finalized form or set of forms.

Commissioner Bryan stated yes.

Chairman DeLong stated they should set that as a goal.

Mr. Perry stated he thinks they need to have another working session on it because they just got it today so they're appreciative of Attorneys Erwin and Harris doing the work, but they need to have a sit-down. He will set that meeting up at Commissioner Bryan's office in the next month for the working group and invite Commissioner Parker and the two attorneys.

Commissioner Mudge asked if they own the form or whose form is it. One it gets completed, do they have to petition somebody to change or is it their form?

Mr. Perry stated it's their form. He stated Mike Visher has a lot of the history on that.

Mr. Visher stated under statute they are to develop the form, but they have to make sure that it meets the requirements for recorded documents. They work with county recorders to make sure that it meets their

requirements. Those requirements are set by the state, but this is their form. They make it available on their website. The Commission can use other forms, but this is the form that most people use and this is a form that's readily available. It's what the BLM puts forth and the county refers everybody to the website for these forms as well. They need to be careful that they put forth the best form that contains everything that's required and that the majority of the mining industry approves as well as the county who has to accept these forms. They do have a little bit of work to do on this with the working group.

Chairman DeLong asked for anything else with no response.

# ACTION TAKEN: The mining claim form will be put on the next meeting agenda for final forms for approval.

## D. NBMG Activity Update

Using a PowerPoint© presentation, Mr. Jim Faulds spoke to the NBMG progress report. Mr. Faulds thanked the Commission for all the support over the past few years and it really helped them through a very difficult fiscal time and provided what they all hoped for which was bridge funding to hopefully a brighter future. This is a very quick history from fiscal year '13 up through '15, which is on the next slide and the funds that were provided for sample curation, mineral databases, exploration survey in that first year, and framework geologic studies. The last project there has been extended, so they're still working on that and have \$40,000 remaining in that project. All of the funds in the other projects for fiscal year '13 and '14 have been expended and with appropriate results, sample curation, building mineral databases. They completed that exploration survey in '13. This is where they are with fiscal year '15 projects. There are three projects funded totaling \$100,000, sample curation, the mining industry reports, and then the mineral databases. Those are the expenditures through January and the remaining funds in each, and there's actually more than expected remaining funds in the latter two partly because at the last minute before the beginning of the fiscal year the college actually did come through and supported the information specialist position and then they obtained a significant amount of funding from the National Geologic and Geophysical Data Preservation Program for part of this work. Most of these funds will be expended before the end of this fiscal year.

This has supported in a big way the activities at the gold building, which very briefly, for curation information, public sales, publication sales. It's a repository collections outreach. This is the visitation number, approximately 1,200 walk-ins per year. That's how the numbers break out in terms of approximately the last year and what people are coming in the doors for. He realizes most of the efforts these days is done online and about 40,000 to 50,000 visitors per year online, and that amounts to about 16,000 or so unique visitors. So they're serving most of their clientele these days through the website. This is important because they're just about to unveil their new shopping cart in the first week of March, which will make it much easier to purchase products and allow them more flexibility on what products they charge for and what they have available for free downloads. Sample curation, the new funding was \$35,000 primarily to maintain staffing at the gold building, curation, develop and maintain databases, web maintenance. They actually used those funds for partial match to obtain the largest grant they've been able to obtain to date from the National Geologic and Geophysical Data Preservation Program. On the aspect of curation, it's more than just bringing the samples in to the repository for the first time. A lot of the work associated with curation is associated with making those samples available for the general public and walk-ins and so on. For example, in the last year, they've worked a lot with Noble Energy coming in and looking at samples from wells that may have been drilled 10, 20, 30 years ago and they even provide splits to companies like Noble Energy for analyses and so on. In fact, they just rewrote all of the sort of requirements for those type of analyses to ensure that they get the analytical data back so that then that can be released to the public. It was a five-year release on new data acquired cuttings. It's reduced to two years.

Commissioner Parker asked on that previous slide, did he show the curation, the amount of time that was spent on showing those to Noble; has that been broken out?

Mr. Faulds responded no, they have not. In terms of overall curation most of the work is after they get the samples in terms of cataloguing them, putting certain elements on line and so on. Again, having that data available for the general public afterwards, so they do get a lot of traffic coming into the building to view cuttings. The percentage of the traffic into the building, going back to the previous slide, if you just think about natural resources in general that's between 20 to 25 percent of the traffic of the walk-ins coming into the building and that would be combining mining, geothermal, and oil and gas. These are some specifics. In the last year over 700 mining district files have been ascension. Oil and gas since July 1st, 30 logs for 8 wells, et cetera. Geothermal, four new permits received and filed three sets of new cuttings. Realize that because of the delay, for example geothermal well, there's a five-

year proprietary period for any cuttings. They store those samples initially. That curation is pretty quick and dirty and simple. Then they bring those samples into the repository five years later at which time they become available to the general public. So for example, since July 1st of 2014, there's been 49 sets of cuttings from geothermal wells now brought into the repository available for general public use. That's because of all the activity five years ago. There were a lot of geothermal wells being drilled at that time. Mineral databases, specific deliverables they're thinking about or proposing staff and maintain public access again at the gold building, revising the data points for the mineral database by the USGS. A lot of those are inaccurate. Development of web-based GIS services and interfaces and so on including in those databases geologic maps, geophysical data, information on known mineral deposits, exploration activity, and then continuing to update the geothermal and oil and gas databases. For the mineral databases, \$35,000 was allocated. They've only spent about \$4,000 so far this fiscal year. That's for staffing at the gold building but as mentioned the college came through and funded David Davis for the year so that relieved some of the pressure on this specific award. Some accomplishments, there's a lot that goes on behind the scenes here with these databases in terms of web maintenance and they're now working through a whole bunch of complicated aspects with respect to their website and security and protocol and go and so on trying to move it into sort of this century and working with UNR IT Group on that. A lot of work actually occurs behind the scenes so that they can have that website as modern and updated and secure as possible. In addition to that, they're working on various web applications and so on. One of the new web applications they've started is a web application for mining district files, a lot of the work that Rachel Wearne has done since coming to the Bureau. Just to highlight that a little bit, this is not released yet so it's sort of a data form they're working on behind the scenes. There's an interactive map. You can go to a specific part of Nevada, click on it, or if you know the name of a specific mineral district you can enter that or you can enter the name of a specific mine, et cetera, and up will come data associated with that mining district. There's sort of a widget shown on the left and various layers that you can enter the specific county or a mining district, name of a mine, et cetera. You can portray features on various layers and face maps. They're trying to get all of the aspects of the mining district files also linked to the most modern geologic maps or the best available geologic maps. You can, also, again go to a specific mining district or actually do this graphically and just sort of put a box around a specific part of Nevada and up will come details on individual mining districts. The MI reports, John Muntean has a lot of obligations these days running the CREG program so they had hoped to release this by the end of December. It looks like the new release date is now mid-March and they're now in the process of finalizing that, expanding a lot of the funds associated with this report so hopefully this will be out soon. All of the data has been collected. Several of the chapters have been written. There's just a couple chapters remaining to be written and then they'll do the final editing soon. Here's a summary again of the fiscal year '15 awards. He pointed out a couple things. They've talked about the remaining funds and there will be more funds expended in the second half of this fiscal year than the first half for a couple reasons, again, Dave Davis's position was funded and also they did carry over some funds from the previous year. In general, they used to run the gold building on \$300,000 a year and six positions. They lost all of the state funding for that except for \$30,000 in the big budget cuts two-and-a-half years ago. They've been running that entire outfit with three people, three positions since that time, and the only reason they were able to do that is thanks to the support from the Commission. So what he wants to do in the remaining part of the fiscal year is ramp up. They have a couple people half time that have been half time since the cuts a couple years ago, ramp them up to full time, and essentially expend most of the remaining funds on these grants. That's not going to last forever, but they know they have the support from the college for David Davis's position for the following year. They also are using some of these funds for match so that they can get as much out of the national geologic and geophysical database preservation program, which helps to support efforts in that building. They don't have a full solution here yet to funding the gold building. They have gotten great support recently from UNR and the college for new faculty positions so they're now advertising for a new geothermal specialist and retirement replacement on neotectonics position, and as many know they hired a new economic geologist Mike Russell last year. So they're growing again on the faculty side of things, but so far there's been no support and only one small call for new support positions or funding for support positions. That new call was a grand total of five support positions for the entire University. He understands the Bureau put forward a request for one of those positions and he understands the college actually did rate it number one priority in the college. They were able to put forth two priorities, and the other priority was funded by the upper administration. So that's where they are lacking. They're growing again. The budget has actually increased in the last couple years by about 15 percent, but that increase has been entirely in the faculty lines rather than in the support staff, so they're still suffering at the gold building. The northeast Nevada project, the funds remaining from a project funded in that first fiscal year, and what they're doing here is that blue box in the area of northeast Nevada, they're studying that in detail partly because of the new discovery, the Long Canyon deposit that will open the next couple years and that's a Carlin deposit in an area previously thought to not contain such deposits. It's a little bit different carbonate rocks than the typical Carlin trend deposition so they want to be at the forefront of development and in addition the oil and gas play by Noble Energy in that area so they're actually producing new geologic maps in this area. They've used

the funding provided by the Commission a couple of years ago to do that. The new mapping is in two areas, the upper right red dot in the Long Canyon area and the new mapping over in the Mary's River Basin where the Noble Energy play is. They have two maps that should be released in the next few months and then using funding to support additional mapping. This is one of the maps in the Mary's River Basin adjacent to one of the areas that Noble Energy has been drilling in showing details of the basin deposits and some of the young faults in that area and then actually using some of these funds also to publish other maps that they've worked on in the area, other mining districts such as Eureka and then the Emigrant Pass area right in the middle of the Carlin trend. To remind everyone the status of geologic mapping in Nevada, only about 20 percent of the state has been completed. They're focusing the award from the Commission a couple years ago in that area of northeast Nevada because it's rich in resources and they're trying to fill in that box in kind of the northeast corner of that red box with new work that will tie into oil and gas and mineral exploration.

Chairman DeLong asked for any questions with no response and thanked Mr. Faulds for the presentation.

## **NO ACTION NEEDED**

# IV. STAFF REPORTS

- 1) Mining/Reclamation Bond Pool Mike Visher stated that on the first page after the staff reports tab is just a current status report of the reclamation bond pool. They're at 126 percent of funding so still financial well-situated. The Commission will see that activity still remains fairly low. They have many more reductions than anything else. They did receive in the last two weeks two new bond requests so somebody is finding some money so hopefully they're seeing a turn around there but just the typical status update on where the bond pool is at. Mr. Visher asked for any questions on the bond pool with no response.
- 2) Oil, Gas, and Geothermal Mike Visher stated he would cover this update for Lowell Price. As they know, Mr. Price had a death in the family that was unexpected and had to make a trip to Texas but despite that he has inspected 99 percent of the one-third requirement of oil, gas, and geothermal wells for the fiscal year. He and Erik have already inspected 188 wells. They need to have 190 for their one-third of all wells inspected. They have a template now that's being used for notify the operators for any corrective actions that are necessary as well as providing them with a report of everything that was inspected, not just the stuff that there's issues but everything that was inspected. It's on a federal lease. Copies are being provided to the BLM as well. They're making great headway on that, and Erik Langenfeld has been diligently working on updating their oil, gas, and geothermal, really the geothermal first, and incorporated the well inspection database into it. It should be ready for use on a tablet or laptop here this summer. Everything will be tied together into one streamlined database. With a program like geothermal that's been around for a while, there's a lot of history and there's some bugs in the system that haven't been captured until now but incorporating it into a GIS format you can see a lot of these inaccuracies. They're manifesting themselves. Sometimes it means going back to the original permits and actually looking at what was in there, garbage in/garbage out. So this is part of the quality control and he's really excited for how far they've come on that part and hope to have Erik provide a demonstration of where that database is at at the next meeting. With regards to activity, in the fourth quarter of 2014, there were three geothermal permits issued. That compares to 27 for all of last year. For oil, there were three permits issued in the last quarter for a total of 13 for the entire calendar year. There was only one geothermal well drilled in the last quarter and that was by Ormat. That's one of ten for the year. There was two new wells drilled during this first quarter so far in 2015. One by USG in Crescent Valley. The other Ormat at Wild Rose. Wild Rose is looking at doubling their production. McGinness Hills just completed the doubling of theirs. So that bodes well. Two really nice resources and see the ongoing development of those. For oil for the quarter last year, there was just one well drilled by Noble Energy. That gives them five for 2014. Twentyfive (25) sundries in geothermal. It's somewhat misleading on the geothermal side. They get a lot of informational sundries. That's all they are is just information, not necessarily an action. So it gives them a lot of information but it doesn't necessarily mean that there was an evaluation that went along with it. There's still a signature that has to be put on it, but the evaluation time is not the same for all the sundries. For the first quarter to date in 2015, they've got 12 geothermal sundries and 10 on the oil side. They've seen a dramatic decrease in exploration on the oil front but there's still interest out there. They are expecting to get another permit in within the next few months and a couple more sundries on the oil side. They're not done. They are seeing production at the last Noble well that they completed. They're waiting for their air permit from NDEP. Then we'll see production that one. The production is not bad. They'd like to see more of that and hopefully Noble will continue exploring in Nevada. That's really a summary of the expiration activities in oil, gas, and geothermal.

Commissioner Bryan asked what is the Sage grouse impact on exploration for oil, gas, and geothermal?

Mr. Visher stated that varies on region and it varies on district. They had one oil well that was supposed to be drilled in February but they did not feel that they would be able to complete it by the March 1 deadline. They would not be able to drill in March, so while they put the conductor casing in they did not spud the well and that was strictly because they felt they could not complete the well in the 10 days left in the month. So it does have an impact. They're trying to work around it. It depends on what district you're in. It depends on the interpretation of the BLM geologist and the biologist, but a lot of the permits are very restrictive and that is definitely having an impact.

Commissioner Parker asked if the impact was caused by just a seasonal restriction?

Mr. Visher stated yes.

Commissioner Snow asked with respect to the one-third of the wells inspection strategy, is that now if they were to undergo another audit that the auditors would hold them accountable for?

Mr. Visher stated yes.

Commissioner Snow then asked how did the one-third become the one-third, what was the rationale?

Mr. Visher stated it was an achievable goal. It was something that would allow them the flexibility of inspecting problematic wells, not just every single well within three years. So what that means is if they have a problematic well it may require that they be out there several times even in just one year to check to make sure that corrective actions are taken or that the risk assessment factors said they needed to go out and inspect it more often. So this is a risk-based inspection criteria. It doesn't necessarily mean that every well is going to be inspected within three years. They've got observation wells that are inactive, very remote, low risk that probably don't need to be inspected except maybe once every five years. The risk assessment provides a score and they quantify that, and that drives how they get to the fields to do the inspections. Once there in the field, you cover as much of that field for inspection as possible. What's taken place is when Lowell or Erik are out for BOP inspections, as time allows either before, during, or after, they'll continue on with inspections in that field to do those inspections and get those done. He stated that yes, they will be measured by that one-third. He reminded that Lowell did a valiant effort last year and inspected every single well in the state. That required a lot of work and they certainly saw an impact on their expenditures for their in-state travel, but that was also a reason why they broke out oil, gas, and geothermal into its own category so they can track those costs. They're currently forecasting for a week a month through the end of the year for continued field either inspections for BOPs and they have the funds to do that, so they're more than exceed their one-third, but they felt that was an achievable goal, a proper goal, and it was not too dissimilar from the federal requirements for their inspection.

Commissioner Snow asked as they ramp up compliance have there or are there assessments or penalties or follow up or things that are wrong that require that the operator is not cooperating with or is everybody 100-percent cooperating?

Mr. Visher stated with regard to inspections they have some that are slow to respond but they have not had to take it to the next level and subject them to a fine. They do have one letter that they sent off for one operator, and that was with regards to submission of the proper reports. It was not tied to the inspection. They are moving forward on those as well. So far the operators have been fairly attentive and by copying the BLM it provides them a heads up that there's not just one agency looking at them. There's another. That's the active oversight they were looking for.

Mr. Perry stated that after the first round of inspections were done they had a list of wells going back to the compliance question that needed to be addressed with regards to plugging and abandonment. They had gone beyond their time and we sat down with the BLM and said here's the one on federal ground, you do those. If we find something on a well on federal ground we notify them and they do the compliance activity. They're supposed to get a hold of the operator and do that. There were three on private ground and two of those were addressed with plugging and abandonment after letters were sent by NDOM. There was one that's not and the operator has not responded despite phone calls. In fact, when their office is called, we can't get a hold of anybody. A letter was sent with a fine, first ever fine of \$1,000 about two months ago. It said unless you respond within 30 days then this is going to continue. After they didn't respond once again, he tried to call them. It's a company that it's suspected is

defunct. We sat down with Bryan Stockton to see what could be done and sent another letter and we're basically clicking off daily fines until we have a point at which we would be able to take their bond and try to address the plugging of the well. That's the first time it's gotten to that point. Despite a year of trying to work with this company we have got nowhere.

Commissioner Parker asked what would it cost to plug that well if it becomes an orphan?

Mr. Perry stated that's a good question and one they're addressing now because they had the same question. The current code says they're to charge a minimum of \$10,000 for a single well and a minimum of \$50,000 for all the wells that a company owns. That's a minimum. They can go over that if they make that determination. They actually asked Lowell to contact several different companies that would plug wells and get quotes on what it would cost to plug a well so they'd have something physical in their hand. Those were obtained last week. In the case of the Ferguson Springs well, the one that has a fine on it, it's about \$32,000. There's a \$10,000 bond on it. So they're trying to answer that question now to answer the question of what should bonds be.

Commissioner Henderson stated that in the quote received did he give them the wellhead and others as compensation?

Mr. Perry stated no, he didn't believe so.

Commissioner Henderson stated they should do that. They should look at compensating them for the assets that are on the well against plugging the well and also removing casing if there's any casing inside.

Mr. Perry stated they just got it last week and they really haven't digested it. They're probably going to need the Commission's help to sit down and go through it.

3. Education Outreach Update - Using a video and PowerPoint© presentation, Bill Durbin stated they've got some busy times coming up in southern Nevada. He just put together a list of things that are coming up here pretty soon. Actually, tomorrow and Thursday he has five presentations he'll be doing at A-Tech High School, one of their activities. Plus, they'll have AML, all of the swag boxed up and ready to go to pass out to all of those kids. The Nevada State Science Olympiad, he was just given the wonderful news that he will be coordinating the fossil competition and that's driving him nuts because he's not into crispy critters but he'll give it his best shot. Their Las Vegas Teacher Workshop is coming up at Faith Lutheran School March 31st through April 1st. The McCaw School of Mines Foundation Gala Fundraiser is April 18th, so hopefully they will all receive invitations and possibly be able to come. The last point, and they spoke about it last meeting, they had nominated the McCaw School of Mines for the IMCC Education and Outreach Award for 2015 and he found out later that the principal of the school had nominated her science coordinator for one of their teacher of the year awards. They've not heard as yet if they're the winners, but Nevada might take the honors this year in a couple of categories. Here are the school presentations that they've got coming up. There's quite a number of them so they'll get the word out here. Eagle Scouts are coming out now. These are photos of their latest scout, Dustin Morris. The 155th Eagle Scout project completed. This is what they have on the agenda. They've got 13 scout projects on the books, one in Lincoln and 12 in Clark County. They did the Jared Brady site visit this last Saturday, a horrible hike up Bonanza Hill out by Sandy Valley, but he's all excited and ready to go. These are some of the other scouts that we're either doing the site visits for and a couple of projects scheduled. Backing up to the video, they saw him pounding the post in the ground to mark the spot of that particular hazard they found that had opened up. It was actually CL-1335 out in the Goodsprings area. It was backfilled back in 2013 by the Bureau of Reclamation Crew and it must've bridged up with some timber or whatever. There's been several rain storms out there over the past six months or so and that little hole they see is about two by three feet. If you throw a rock down there, it dribbles down about 30 feet. The shaft was originally logged at 80 to 90 feet deep. It's now fenced. As you can see, it's been reported to John Callan and Lori Dee Dukes who is the AML program leader down here at the Vegas BLM. It's on the list to be re-backfilled when they get the funding to go ahead and start doing more permanent closures with the Bureau of Reclamation. Mr. Durbin then asked for any questions.

Commissioner Bryan asked if in association with the Boy Scouts down here, the mining merit badge has been out for about a year, has anybody taken advantage of that?

Mr. Durbin stated not a one he was sorry to say. He's got a leaflet that goes to each and every scout that he talks to when they send out a letter, a package for their project, he includes that. He's talked to scout masters. He's talked to parents, talked to some of the kids themselves, but to date he's had no takers unfortunately.

Commissioner Bryan stated you have to have the certification to be able to teach, a facilitator and asked if Mr. Durbin had that.

Mr. Durbin stated not an official signed document.

4) Correspondence - No update given.

#### NO ACTION NEEDED

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC - Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive agenda and identified as an item for possible action. All public comments will be limited to 5 minutes for each person. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN

Mr. Alan Coyner stated he would love to have that TV reporter come up to Reno and interview the Chairman and ask him about the cuts in the AML program. He shares the heartburn that Commissioner Mudge does with the 42 percent. When Mackay was cut 50 percent the Commission jumped up and did a \$2 mining claim fee increase and that didn't seem to be out of the stretch. He's overseen three mining claim fee increases, two when he first came on fairly small, and then the \$2 one in 2008. 2008 is seven years ago now, so the mining claim fee hasn't been changed for seven years. The fluids guys have lifted some heavy water. They had to change statute to change that fee. The mining commissioners, all they need to do is have a series of regulation meetings to take that \$1.50. That \$1.50 would generate \$300,000 nominally, which would double the program from what he's getting. The surface disturbance fee hasn't been raised in years. Again, a regulation change from \$20 to \$30 an acre on public land. Those are on projects where companies are putting out \$500 million to \$1 billion to build that new mine and you don't think there's a need for the \$10 fee especially when you're cutting the program 42 percent. Granted the money that will come into fluids by their fee increase was mining claim money which will now back up and go back over onto that side, but he really thinks the Commission needs to take a real hard look at this. The BLM raised their fee, and the fluids guys might not know this, on mining claims last September 1st from \$140 a year to \$155 a year, a \$15 per claim increase. Here we are sitting on our hands talking about \$1.50. The inaction is a little troublesome. So he'll finish with his, again, holistic pitch to the Commission. They heard about the efficiencies that are being gained in AML by the use of the computers and the programs and so forth. It's marvelous. It's unbelievable. He and Russ were back there just saving it's unbelievable. It's really fantastic. They also know that as they chase more and more of these sites, their sites per visit are going down because of the inaccessibility so forth and so on. As he's mentioned before, one of the ways to sell an increased mining claim fee is to begin a more holistic program. The legality of holding mining claimants feet to the fire on that in a push-shove situation legally has never really been proven even though there's state law that essentially says that. A more holistic approach is to fund the program at the level that the Division can just go out, excluding private property, but public lands and just take care of business. The great example is you go up a canyon and there's two AML sites and you've expended all of that effort and time to get out there and your trucks and your personnel and so forth and so on. One's on a claim and one's on unclaimed public land and you only secure one of them. It's nonsensical. So he understands the principle that the owners of the claims or the owners of the private property should be responsible. There is an underlying it's your problem you should take care of it philosophy. On the other hand thinking out of the box a little more, you get a funding level that's appropriate for the program and you just take care of business and get them done. Lee Chapman once told the Commission at a meeting in Eureka, "if it was up to me, I'd take a bulldozer from the northeast corner of Nevada and just drive it right down to Las Vegas and fill them all in as he went." So that's a little extreme, can't really do that as you know, but he hates to tie the hands of the Division in getting the job done because of the statutes that could be changed. He really thinks they need to look at that mining claim fee. He really thinks they need to look at the surface disturbance fee and give these guys the resources that they deserve. They're doing a great job. Cutting the intern program, that's not advisable. It's helped those students up there. It's given them money to continue their education. It fits very well into the Division and the Commission's mission with Mackay, and so to cut the people back by two people, he doesn't think that's appropriate either.

Chairman DeLong thanked him for his comments and asked for further comments with no response.

# **COMMISSION BUSINESS**

**A. Determination of time and place of next CMR meeting** – The next CMR meeting was tentatively scheduled for Friday, May 1st, 2015 from 1:00 to 5:00 in Reno, Nevada.

# ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, Commissioner Bryan made a motion to adjourn the meeting which was seconded by Commissioner Mudge.